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597 Piermont Road
Demarest, New Jersey 07627
March 22, 1977

Mr. Auvust Matzdorf, P E., Area Manager
Mason & Hanger -Silas Jason Co., Inc.

437 Madison Avenue '

few York, Wew York 10022

Dear Mr. Matzdorf,

I am submitting herewith the full report of the Stage I
Archaeological Survey, Contract 1A, Red Hook Water Pollution
Control Project. In my earlier transmittal to you dated February
1, 1977, I sent to you the first phase of the investigations,
which concerned only the tunnel sections. -

As per your request, T have included the first phase of
the report (i.e. the tunnel sections) in the final report. I
have taken the liberty td add certain additional and pertinent
information to the history and background of the first phase
report. 1 have tried to enswer your spescific gquestions concern-—
ing land fill to thﬁ best of my knowledge from my ressarches.

This present report includes illustrations and the results
of the additional core boring studies, which were completed
following the submission of tae flrst phase report.

I appr901ate having the opportunity to participate in this

Archaeological Study, since it is important to me professicnally

as well as of genuine interest as an old Brooklyn boy (W1111amsbu_w)

This report was produced through the efforts of two
employees on your staff. To Mrs. Doris Ferrante, who typed and
retyped the manuscript,. and to Mr. Vincent Mangiere, who drew
the plans and sections and assembled the illustrations, I

. en heavily obliged. -

Bincerely yours,

RalpﬁfS Soleckl, Ph D,



INTRODUCTION

The areas studied in this Stage I Archaeclogical Survey _
of Contract 14, Red Hook Water Pocllution Control Projeét, PW 152,
are in the opinion of the author among the most interesting areas
of investigation in Brooklyn, if not the most important areas.
These areas - thé Fulton Ferry District, the Atlantic Avenue-
Furman Street-Joralemon Street section, and the blocks adjacent
to the Main and Plymouth Streets intersection - date from the very
beginning of the settlement of this‘part of New York City, and
the author felt genuinely privileged to have the oﬁportunity to
do the work on this project. A ' - '

It is recommended that a Btage IT monitoring of part of the
sewer project by a qualified archaecologist be done when the work

of excavation begins, as outlined in the Conclusions and Recommen-

" dations.

The author made fifteen separate visits to the sites areas
in the course of his fieid investigations. These areas are
respectively: " (a.) the distorted-U-shaped configuration made
up of Atlantic'Avenue, west of Columbia Street, Furman Street,
between Atlantic Avenue and Joralemon Street, and Jorélemon
Street, west of Furman Street; (b;) Fulton Street {(Cadman Plaza
Wesf)from Furman Street to just east of Front Strset; and (c)
the L-shaped configuration formed by Main Street, between Howard
Alléy and Plymouth Street, and Plymwouth Street betweén Héin_and

Pearl Streets. A1l of these areas of course bear absolutely no
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resexmblance today to what fhey h2d been originally, since they
have suffered numerous changes. Of theé three arezs, The Fulton
Ferry district still retains a ssmblance of certain charm under
its weather-beaten and battered sxterior. The latter district
has been placed in the National Historic Register, and there is
.a move to ilnclude certaln of the buildings in the rolls of the
Landmarks Preservation Commission.

Actually documentation reszearch on the project was begun
on January 5, 1977. Study of the geological core sample data
revealed some hints as to possible aboriginal occupation (from
burned shell.debfis) on the old river shore at the East River
end of Fulton Street,” Exaﬁination of the core samples indicated’
that.only partiallphysicai samples of the,c@res were Saved, gnd
it appeared advisable to obtain mdre complete representative bofe
- samples for a better assessment of the archaeological pofential
0f the study areas. |

A meeting oflthe principals involved in the archgeological
investiéations at Federal Plaza in Manhattan on Januery 11, 1977
included Pfof. Bert Salwen, of New York University and Consultant
to the Environmental Protection Agency, Mr. Richard Wélka, Scientist
of the‘Envifonmental Protection A@ency; Mr. Sudhir Parekh, of the
department of Water Resources of lew York City, Mr. August Matzdorf,
P.E., Area Manager of Mason & Hanger-Silas Mason,Compan&, Inc.
and tﬁe author, to discuss the strategy to be followed in the
- archaeolegical survey, albt which the specific problem of additional
borings irn the study area was brougﬁt up. It was recommended
thét this be done in all three areas.

' The nature of the sewer comnstruction in the three areaé

influenced the recommendations for further researches. Thus,
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The proposed projects will involve open excévation cuts on
Atlagtic Avenue znd Joralemon Street, while the section between
these t#o streets on Furman Street will be a tunnel.. The Fulton
Street sewer projectv will involvs an open cut. The Main and
Plymouth Street sewers will be mined in a tunnel.

The field work involved a walk-over of the study areas with
the msps of the districts,. a study of the buildings and structures
with an eﬁphasis upon the historic buildings and spots, and a
photographic record of the latter. A comparison of the Jeremish
Lottt (1816) map of the Fulton Ferry district was made with the
present. situation, and the location of a number of historic'places
was pin-pointed. Included among these was the original site of
the ¢ld "Corporation House", the first city owned property (so
far as was ascertained) on the Brooklyn side and in an adjacent
location the place from which Francis Guy made his "Snow Scenes"
on Front Street in 1820. The building of the old FPranklin House
Hotel on the corner of Water and Fulton Streets still sefves meals
in ths contempérary first floor Waterfront Restaurant, — meals -
which 0ﬂ¢y a he*rLy and very hungry truck driver could stomach
It can be imagined that_a hundred ysars ago lower Fulton Street
was probably no easier to traverse with the horse drawn street
cars,. teams of_horses pulling heavy loads, ebtc. than it is
against motorized traffic today, sxcepting that speed has in-
creased several fold.

A team of drillers with a City geologist aﬁd a Columbia
University gradaate stiudent archasologist in attendance made ten
core borings on Fulton.Street and Joralemon Street. Also present
vas an enployee of the utility company who monitored the place-

X,

-ment of the borings to be sure that the utility lines would not
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be affected. The author visited the on-site borings during the
course of the work, familiarizing himself with the methods used
as well as -to check on the results of the exploratiéns.

While lowver Fulton Street presents some interesting vignettes
of 0l1d Brooklyn for examinéfion, not much can be said for the
other two areas. The situation of lMain and Plymouth Stfeets, in
the shadow of thé bridges, presents little for study with the
exception of a couple buildings on the end of Water Street, west
of its intersection with Main Street. The water front at the
end of Plymouth Street in front of the Empire Storage Warehouse
presents a kind of tranquil view formed by the Bfooklyn Bridge.
The Atlaﬁtic Street-dJdoralemon Street-Furman Street areas, aside
from the docks, takes a lot of imagination to recabture the
past.

Retrieval of data in the documentary researches has found to
‘be a kind of & near frusﬁfating quest.' One of the historians
notes that the British had destroyed official papers during their
occupation of Brooklyn, and the records of later periods did not
suffer better fate. Judd’(1959, iid) obserﬁes fhat in his
researches in the period between 1834 to 1855 it is believed
that the official documents of tﬁe early'periodé were desfroyed
in a series of fires, while other official dccuments were
"systeﬁatiqally destroyed in order to.provide space for more
recent records". (ibid.). It is indeed fortunate that the daily
newspapers of the time Thought the minutes of the meetings important
enough to print. The problem of course is to wade through resels
of microfilmed newspapers for the nuggets of information sought.
Parenthetically, it may be said that contemporary records also

have a short shelf life. One hears of old men who knew everything
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in their departments, and when retired, their hard-won knowledge
went with them. The younger revplacements in geﬁeral are too busy
with problems of the moment to concern themselves with auncient
histbry and tribal lore.

The most useful summariegs of early Brooklyn history can
be counted on the fingers of one hand. These include Henry
Stiles' "History of County of Kings-.and the City of Brooklyn,

New York from 1683 to 1884”, which appeared sepzrately in one
volume (almbst as thick as two ftelephone books, a sizeable mean
coffee table weight), a two volume and a three volume edition.
This 1is of cburse_confusing for documentation. This work was
edited by him, with ﬁis own contributions interspersed in the
work. He had written an earlier study on Brooklyn in three.volumes;
published in 18&7. The others are Eugene Armbruster's "The

Ferry Road on Long Island (1919); Gabriel Furman's "Notes Geo-
graphical and Historical Relating to the town of Brocklyn in
Xings County of Long Tsland" (1824); Purman's "Antiquities of
Tong Island" (1874), and for ths moré recent period, Richard
Rosan's (et al) "Fulton Ferry" (1972). It was found that the
writings and observations of Armbruster, Furman and Stiles have
been absorbed and regurgitated in many sUbseqﬁent published papers
and books written on the subject of Brooklyn, and - the fine hand

of these three gentlemen can be distinguished everywhere - this
presentation being no exception.

In his researchss, the author made extensive use of the
faéilities of the Long Island Historical Societj, and is obliged
to its Director, James Hurley for his library assistance.
Similarly, he is obliged heavily to Prof. Arthur Konop of the

James A. Kelly Institute at St. Francis College. The author
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also used the Collections of the Columbis University_Library,
as well as his own professicnal books znd papers. He also con-
ferred with the New York City gsologists, Mr. Irving Ostrofsky
and Mr. Peter Kuuk of the Department of Public Vorks, and on
other geoldgical problems related to the work with Drs. Herbert
Hills of the Nassau Point Museum, Long Island, and Walter Newman,
of Queens College. The author =zlso conferred with the kngineers
of the Department of Highways at 40 Worth Street, New York.
iir. Thomas McGovern, a graduste student arcbaeologist at Columbia
Univerqity,lsurvived the rigors of Arétic.climate on the river-
front in recovery of the supplementary core borings. His Arctic
experience (Greerland) made him especially well qualified.

Without the help of two members of the Mason & Hanger-

4

Silas Mason Co., Inc. staff, this resport would certainly not
have achieved its perfected state in record timé. Mrs. Doris
Ferrante Typed and helped in the asszembly of the manuscfipt,
while Mr. Vincent lMangiere did tThe draughting work as well as

the preparation of the illustrations.

Ralph S. Solecki, Ph.d.
March 21, 1977
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Description

Atlantic Avenue,
West of Columbia Street

Joralemon Street,
West of Furman Street

Fulton Street,
Furman Street to Everitt Street

Fulton Street,

Elizabeth Place to chks Street
the Contract 1A plans

first phase report
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Y
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HISTORY OF THE FULTON STREET FERRY & ENVIRONS

The iiterature indicates that TFulton Street, or the lower.
part of it at.the-East_River (that part now called Cadman Plaza
.:Westj Waé part of an old Indian trail through Brooklyn and out
to Léng Island (Figs. 1, 2). The same crossing whichhthe early
settlers who wished to cross to the island of Manhattan used was
" originally used by the Indians (Bolton, 1922, p. 131; Purmen, 1875,
"p. 1%5). The nétive village'of.ﬁareyckawick; which belonged to
the Canarsie tribe, répbrtedly stood in fhe vicinity of ﬁawrence
and Jay Streets about half a mile from Fulton Ferry. It is said
~that the first white settlement in Brooklyn was made upon this
site. (Furmen, 1875, p. 135). Unfortunately, thefe is no record
of any kind of exploration, much less careful excavation, of this
and other Indian village sites in this part of Brooklyn, although
'thefe had been extensive street grading and building operations
(Bolton, 1922, p. 1%2). | | '
The Name "Brooklyn" comes down to us-ovef three hundred
years of time with changes. Originally known as "Bruikjkleen
Colonie", it was established through the purchases of Director-
General William Kieft, who wantinglanded property, was evidently
obliged to buy land on Long Island because éverything available
on Manhattan‘lslaﬁd was already taken (Armbruster, 1918, p.7).
He acquired the land through purchase from the local Brooklyn
~ Indians, the Canarsies; According to another source (Bolton,
1920, p.271) the cachems of the Mareykawick family sold their
rights to fishing and.oystering up the East River to Blackwells

Islands to Director Van Tweiller. Indeed, the record of sales

o
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. of rights and land by the Indians to the Dutch appears to be
clouded with a number of gquestions. In any.casé, the word
"Bruijkleen" is a Dutch appelation to the area, a word stili
being used in the Netherlands (Armbruster, 1918, p.9). It means
"free loan", and as applied to land negotiations, and in our
equivalent it is a "homestead". Farmers in the Dutch colonial
days were given plots of land to use provided that they put it
under culfivation (Armbruster, 1918, p.9). '

One.of the earliest residents of the 0ld Ferry area appears
to be a Claes Cornelissen (Mentelaér) Van Schouw, who received
a patent for land from Governor Kieft on the water front extending
from the ferry. At the fe;ry point itself, a number of grants
for houses and building lots were made subsequentlj, to various
individuals.

. The seal for the "Bruijkleen Colonie" was created in 1654,
formally fixing the name to the area. mhe village of"Breukelen"
was founded in 1645 upon the Indian village site of Maerckkaakwick
(Mareyckawick) noted above (Armbruster, 1918, p.1l). -The name of
the village was changed froﬁ "Bruekelen" to"Brookland", when the
English took possession in 1664. It became also known as Clover
Hill, and Brookiyn Heights. The name ﬁas again .changed to Brooklyn
in 1807, and Brooklyn village was organized in 1816 (Langstaff,
1933; Brooklyn Daily Eagle, 75th Anniv.).

The 0l4 Ferry was established abéut 1642 by Cormnelius
Dirckson. (Hooglant) who was called the Ferry Man (F@g. %) (Stiles,
1884, p.92; Booth, 1859, p.684). Dirckson sold his property and
his ferry rights to a William Thomassen (or alias William Jénsen)
in 164% (Stiles, 1884, Vol. 1, p.85).' Thomassen {(or Jansen)

appears to have enjoyed the rights for a few years.



A compllcated gset of charges agalnst cargo and persons was
declared for ferriage by Governor Stuyvesant in 1654 (Stlles,
1884, Vol. 1, pp. 425-6). Two or more people in a party were
gfven cut rates (half price each one). The first ferry house or
tavern on the Brooklyn side appears to have been established by
. an Egbert Van Borsum, who in 1655 leased the ferry from Governor
Stuyvesant. He had the ferry rights to as late as 1663, the year
before the English took over New York. From the time the English
assumed control until 1695, there was much confusion regarding
ferry rights. The people of Brooklyn wanted to control their own
ferry, which by this time was quite a lucrative enterprise (Stiles,
ibid, pp. #26-7). _

Upon cession of the city to the English, the new rulers
aséumed control over the waters, and made the ferry pay toll to
the city government. The people insisted on their right to ferry
themselves however (Booth, 1859, p.685). ' .

The 014 Ferry SBtreet had various names recorded from 1646,
when it was called the "Highway". It was also named "The Wagon
Road", the "Kings Highway", and the "Queens Road" ete. Within
the later Brooklyn wvillage limits, the road was best knowd as
Ferry Road until a branch rcad had been established along the
present line of Main StréetAin 17953 then there was én 0ld: Ferry
Road and a New Ferry Road. In 1817 the 01d Ferry Road was re-
named Fulton Street, in honor of Robert Fulton (who died in 1815),
Outside these limits the road became Fulton Afenue when Brooklyn
City came into existence (Armbruster, 1919, p;lO):(Table 1).

There are suggestions from early maps that-there.had been
a number of changes in the position of the férry landing. The

014 Ferry Eanding was originally much farther inland and somewhat
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to the southward of lower ferry slip (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, p._56).
In fact, according to Furman (1824, p.29), and indicated on an
early map (Fig. 1), the original or first'ferry point in Brooklyn
was near the foot of Joralemon Street during the early years of
the colony. Furman (ibid.) adds that at the time of his writing
it was difficult to‘ascertain the exact point in time when the
ferry at the foot of Fulton Street was established.

No property records earlier than the close of the 17th
century for the land (Block Nos. 200, 201, 202, 35) (Fig. %) at
the foot of Fulton Street in the vicinity of the ferry were located.
The record for the north side of the street between present Water
Street and Front Street, which nearly follows the original line
of the road so far as could be determined from all published
maps, illustrations and records, indicated that the first land
" transaction in the area began in 1694 with the names John Coe
and John Aerson (Liber 2, p.287, August 13, 1694). The same year
the Corporation of the City of New York bought the William Morris
House, barn and premises on the same side of the road opposite
" Little Street (present Elizabeth Street) about a hundred feet
from the then shore of the East River (Furman, 1824, p. 23, 102-3).
The Corporation built the services for the ferry, including a pier,
ferry stairs (to accomodate the rise and fall of approximately
five feet of tide)and a cattle yvard (Armbruster, 1874, p.278). The
house was later replaced in 1699-1700 with a brick and stone ferry-
house and tavern which is depicted in a number of well-known
scenes (Figs. 5, 6, 7, 8). It had a stepped roof front in the
Duteh Btyle. John Aerson, a propefty owner at the ferry landing
mentioned above, was ferry master in 1697 (Furman, 1824, p.29).
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A frontage of some 450 feet was acqulred along the rlver by

the Gorporatlon, from the south side of Fulton Street to the north
side of the present Brooklyn Brldge tower, fOr.Wthh foresight
later proved valuable toward the construction of the bridge
(Brooklyn Daily:Eagle, 1890, p.8; Armbruster, 19i9, p.9; Rose-
brock et al., 1975, p.5; Furman, 1824, p. 23, 110-115). Arm-
bruster (ibid. p 9) mentions the tavern as well ‘as a new ferry

house and the 1and1ng bridge, were all bullt at a cost of about

H435 pounds, which small as 1t seems now, was of some consequence

then. The tavern was burned down in either 174? or 1748, :Accord-
ing to Mary Booth (1859, p.684) the Sepoys of Long Island were
supposed to have been responsible for the burninhg in order to

inflict damage upon the Corporation for iﬁfringing on their rights.

- But probably more correctly it was burned down by outraged

Brooklynites, who were embroiled in a contintious litigation over
the lucrative ferry rights (Stiles, 1884, Vol. I, p.95).

A new two story tavern, 60 feet square, was built on the
gspot in 1748, which became known in the records;aé the "Corporation

House". It stood unhtil 1812, when a widespread fire, literally

a "fire storm" of the type which destroyed German cities during

WW II, consumed a number of buildings in the area and destroyed
it, The remains were leveled five years later (Armbruster, 1919,
p.9; Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, p.2). The site of the Corporation
House is partially occupied today by Nos..l9, 21 and 23 on Fulton
Street, (Fig. 2) just west of the old "The Banker's Corner"

(The Fulton Ferty Bank) at 25-27 Fulton. Street. Todey, No. 19
Fulton Street is occupied by a single story commercial building,
the Waxman building. Next door to the east, thé.Fﬁlton Street

frontage is gap toothed with an empty-lot occupying Wos. 21 and
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22, belonging to a Ms. Mary Winconia, its leveled area shut off
from the étreet by a high iron chain link fencé. With the exception

of a rusting derelict truck, no apparent use is being made of

- the property today, and would seem that a golden opportunity

presents itself for a deep sondage to be made to lay bare the
foundations of the "Corporation House". |

About the road to the ferry and the ferry itself, there
are some 1lluminating contemporary records. Dankers and Sluyter,
(1867, p.119) two travellers to the New Yorld, give a description
of the ferry ride tol“Brookland" in 1679. The fare was three
"stuivers" in wampum (zeewan) each person, or<t£e\eéﬁivalent of
less than half a cent in 1867 when +the bbok'was_reprinted.
"Zeewan", the Indian néme for wampum, is the descriptive given to
Long Island (Beewanhacky) in the early cononial records for the
good wampum produced there.

In 1704, a decision of moment décided the course of the ferry
road at lower Fulton Street for over a hundred years, untll new
changes wéere made. The Main -Road, or Fulton Street, was laid out
by the Commissioners for the Colony of New York in March of that
year, when it was ordered that a public highway the King's High-
way be laid out beginning from the low water mark at the ferry
rumning four rods wide (64 feet) between the house and lands of
John Aerson, John Coe and George Jacobs to "Broockland“ town

(Furman, 1874, p.319; Flint, 1896; Armbruster, 1919; Stlles,

‘1884, Vol. I, p. 92).

The butcher business was evidently a very profitable enter-

- prise dufing the early history of the colony and Brooklyn opposite

the Manhattan shore. Names like Patchen, Stryker, Doughty, Hicks,

Horsfield, Carpenter, Everit were butchers who were prominent
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figures and whose names are found on the streets of downtown
Brooklyn today (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, p.67, 38-9, S2, 119, 122,
125; Furman, 1824, p. 40). It was more convenient to ship sides
of beef to Manhattan rather than the whole animal, and slaughter
houses sprang up around the Fulton ferry. Indeéd, some of the
 butchers evidently had their own ferry landing, -with one at the
foot of Doughfy Street just to the south of the Fulton Ferry, and
one to the north of Fulton Férry at the foot of Dock Street, mear
a slauéhter house, which stood about where Fire Engine No. # later
stood (Furman, 1824, p-40).

The "Fly Market" in the center of .the street, which dates
from the late 17th Century (1676) was the virtual monopoly of
the bﬁtcher trade (Furman, 1824, p.85) A second market was
established along the river to the north in the next century at
the foot of Main Street.near the newly established ferry (ibid.).

There appeafs to have been a steady landfilling of the area
of the Fulton Ferry from earliest times. Much of this land fill
probably came' from the reduction of nesrby hills, but it is more
likely later pn-that the most convenient f£ill was destroyed
buildings, or the result of the widenings of Fulton Street.
Originally, there had been a small cove at the bottom of a gently
sloping hill Just north of the present Brooklyn Helghts area. The
indications from early land deeds are that the East River cut
about the present line of Everitt Street, and there was a bluff
fronting on fhe-riVﬁr just about where Front Street is fodaj.
The ten foot conmtour follows the o0ld-18th Century shore line (Fig. 9).
The-originai ferry house, shown in the paiﬁting by Burgis shows
it to have been just to the river or westward of the bluffs (Fig. 5).

- The earllest land transaction found in the records of the .

~ ferry area (Sect. 1, Block 200, from April 7, ,1685, Iiber 1, p. 40,

[
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also Liber &4, p. 111, March 26, 1716) between Hans Bergen and
Johannes Sebering, concerns land south of the ferry p01nt The
' East River appeédrs to have come up to a little west of present
Everitt Street, which was crossed diagonally by the water. The
same people figured in another land transactiop'(Liber 4, v. 113,
March 26, 1717), in which it is shown that the river still crossed
the 014 Ferry Road or present Fulton Street about the liﬁe of
present Everitt Street (Blocks 200, 201). A diagram in which the
grantee is Hans Bergen, Sect. 1, Block 201, Liber 4, p. 142,
April 16, 1717, shows that Hhie is no chang;e.

The 1717 Burgis view (Kouwenhoven, 19?2, ﬁp. 52-53) (Fig. 5)
"shows interesting additional details. Next to the cattle yard on
the south side of Fulton Street appears to be eibarn about where
Middagh and Elizabeth Streets are today. On the north side of the
street, the only buildings evident apparently afe parf of the
Corporation complex - a smaller two story building flanking the
Corporation House on the east with a gabled roof, a hip roofed
single story structure leaning againet the Corporation House on
the immediate wesf; and then another single etory shed with a
gable roof adjoining to fhe west of the latter structure. Just
visible to the north on Front Street (originally lMill Road)
appears to be another two story structure, which is presumably the
John Rapalye house, two stories high and built of Holland brick.
It somehow survived the fire-storm ravages in the earlier part .
of the century.. Between the Corporation House and the Rapalye
house was later built the first fire engine house .about the end
of the 18th century. It was built upon the "gore" lot made by the
two buildings above. |

On the "gore" lot today is the pfesent bare hull of the
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Fulton Ferry Bank building (Fig. 10) originally built as the Long
Island Safe Deposit Company in 1868 (Stiles, 1884, Vol. I, p.632).
This unique iron clad structure, on the cormer of Fﬁltonéand Front
Streets (Wos. 25-27 Fulton Street) is preseﬁtly.vacant. The
owner would like to make a restaurant out of it, I visited the
building and viewed fhe interior on March 14, 1977; in company
with two gentlemen who were inspecting the structure. It is
difficult to caﬁture the spirit of smértly éuited'men and women
of a bygone era today in this stark,.dgcrepit iﬁterior, which
needs much to refurbish it. The illustration in Stiles (ibid.)
shows next door, to the west of this building, a simpie four
story brick buiiding, the lower part of which appears to Be a
store front.- This building (since demolished) stood on the site

" of the old Corporation House. To the right of the bank building
is'a three story brick strucfure (Nos. 5-7 Front Street) which

is functioning today as a restaurant on its first floor.

Across from Front Street stood a very old frame building
which functioned as the first post office in Brooklyn .in 1818
(Armbruster,.19l9, Pp. 23-24). In the same Burgis 1717 view,
the Brooklyn Heights,of Ihpetonga, doeéfnot appearlto be especially
_heavily woo@ed, with.a copse of trees at the nofthefn end-over—
looking the ferry, and another grove of trees foward the west end
in the illustration.

Study of the view of the Fulton Ferry in i746 (Fig. 7, 8)
(8tiles, 1869, Yo;; ITI, p. 39) does not show very much change
from the 1717 view of Burgis. The caftlé yard is still there,
and the Corpofation House still stands with its outbuildings .and
neighboring buildings on the north side of the 014 Ferry. There

was z sandy bluff Just to the south of the building adjoining the
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Cérporation.ﬂouse, which ran northwafd‘in line with:presént Front
Btreet, and to the left side. Siénificantly,'there appeérs to
have been a smégl cove Jjust behind the Gbrporatioﬁ House, and
there are ships docked Jjust to the west of the smallrbuilding
adjoining the Cgrporation House to the west, which probably stood
about where No. 17 Fultomn Street stands now. The beach appears
to have begun t; the west of this building, and the dock extended
possibly about a hundred feet out into the river. The end of the
dock somes to about the present Water Street, if our estimates are
correct. The dock appears to have been'a quay made up of a long
rectangular framework of timbers approximately ten feet by forty
feet long, dividedlup by cross beams at ten fodf intervals. In
it appears to have been placed some kind of £ill, which from the
illustrations looks like gravel or cobbies. This rectangular
grillwork'evidently wag the  forerummer of the Fulton Street
Ferry slip. This quay side, in effect, bounds a grassy sward to
the south, on‘wgich a lady and several gentlemen are promenading.
Two other gentlémen are taking their ease sitting in a pirougue on
~this dry land for some umnaccountable purpose. dn thé left side
of the i1llustration is the cattle yard,IStanding about where the
present Fagle Storage and Warehouse Company is today. The street
was quite wide in this view, and the néfrowness'complaiﬁed about
in the 1816 maps is not indicated in these early views.

The same is indicated in Liber 6, p. 59; 60 for Bect. 1,
Bloek 201, in which in a land transaqtion on May 28, 1756 to
grantee John Carpenter, the East River cut acroés Fulton Street
(014 Ferry Road) about the line of present Evefitthtreef, hence
there was no chénge. There was a further note that the East

River was 105 feet west of Little Street (present Elizabeth
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Street). Until Furman Street was bﬁeﬁéd up,;Elizébéth Street was
the only means of access to the Fulton Ferry from the beach road
to the south which became Furman Street (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II,
p. 118). | | a

In 1741, Brooklyn Ferry was made a relay station for the
mail coach connecting His British Majesty's Colonies of New England
and Virginia. A stage coach route was established from Brooklyn
Ferry to Sag Harbor, which ran once a week, and then came the
Flushing coach (in 1801 to 1854) (Armbruster, 1919, pp. 10-11).

Lt. Ratzer's map of 1766 (Fig. 11) shows that there was by
this time-a considerable settlement at the foot of the 0ld Ferry
Road. It figured heavily in the military strategy at the time of
‘the Revolutionary War, snd was the embarkation point of Washington's
first major retreat from Long Island on August 2?, 1776, in which
some 9,000'Americah troops were evacuated in a kind of Dunkirk
operation under the superintendence of a Generai McDougall. A1l
available boats.were commissioned for the operation,'which was
"successfully completed by AugustIBOth. It is not unlikely that
Washington and his staff at least visited the Oofporation'Hduse
during this tense period of the new counfry's history (Fig. 12, 13).

Furman (1824, p.52) says that Captain Hale, reconnoitéring
for information for Washington, was taken by the English and hung
as a spy somewhere along the Brooklyn.shore to the southwest of
the Old Ferry. Most of the records of early.Brobklyn were destroyed
by the English after they won the Battle of Loqg Island and took
possession of B;ooklyn; )

As might be eﬁpécted, the "Corporation Hoﬁse" figured
heavily in the occupation by the English victors. .It was other-

wise known as the "Ferry Tavern", 'a-large and gloomy'stoné'build—-
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ing. It had also been called "The Coffin House", because of'bﬁme
_ eévidently troublesome incident when é cOffiﬁ had been hauled™“up
on the flagstaft of the building (Stiles, 1884,lVol, 1, p.95).
This tavern was famed for thirty years before the American.
Revolution, when it was simultaneously managed with the ferry by
a Captain Adolph Waldron, who had alliéd hinmself with the American
rebels. Forced to leave because of his position, his place was
taken by a couple of loyalists who renamed the tavern "The King's
"Head" they declared bankruptecy at the war3§.eqd in 1782. BSub-
sequently this tavern was called the "Brooklyn Hall", until its
burning in 1812‘ (S8tiles, 1884, Vol. 1, p. 96). The first news-
paper in Brooklym was published by the landlords of the "King's
Head Tavern" in 1782 (Stiles, ibid., p. 99).

At the close of the Revolutionary War there were about 56
buildings within the boundary of Brooklyn (Armbruster, 1919;5§. 16)
(Fig. 12, 13). In the early 1800's there was an increased tempo
in the number of.street and building improvements in the‘féfrj area,
as the village prospered. At the beginning of that century; the
landing was a ciuster of taverns, livery stables and stores. It
became the shopping center for the majority of Long Islanders;
and stage coaches leaving for any poinf of the island had their
terminus at the landing. A gravel sidewalk was laid about 1818
"~ to accomodate the foot traffic, and curbstones were set up to
separate the walk from the street; which must have been very un-
tidy with the droppings of cattle and-horses, as well as the un-
paved street, which was undoubtedly muddy in bad weather, and
dusty in fine weather. There is record that there wés some balk-
ing at making sidewalk improvements about this time. A local

figure named Mr. Patchen was ordered in 1816 to replace his cobble-
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Stone sidewalk for a gravel walk w1th curbstones 1n front of hlS
premlses on Fulton Street (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, p. 70-71).

In the days of the Revolutionary War, the watefs of the East
River were still close to their original line, since the rlver came
up close to the point now called Front Street, and it was ‘about
this time that the space between.thefferry gate and the Co}poration
house was filled in and built upon (Armbruster, 1919, p.23).

f Mention is made that in the latter part of the 18th century
the land on the southern side of the ferry had guch high hills
that"considerable exertion" was required to remove them, indicat-
ing that the leveling of the higher hills was contemplatédt if not
undertaken at this early date (Stiles, Vol. 1, 1884, p.103). The
most convenient dumping spot would be at the ferry landing. . It
is assumed that the Indian Hill at Jay and York Streets must have
followed the same end in the East River. Streets were laid out
and forced through in the Brooklyn Heights area in the 1820's
(Stiles, Vol. I, 1884, pp. 129-130, 132), whichlundoubtedly
accounted for a considersble amount of land-fil]l, some of which too
must have found itself used to build up the East River shoreline.

By 1796 the B. Taylor map (published in 1797) (Kouwenhoven,

1972, pp. 194-5) (Fig. 14) indicated that the 014 Ferry Road,

' Water Street, Front Street, Dock Street and Main Street were
already well established, with two piers at the 01d Ferry, one
between 01d Ferry and Dock Street, one at Dock Street, and one at
Main Street, with another structure between the,two latter ex-
tending into thé river. The little cove af the end of the Oid
Ferry Road had been filled in, and the Ferfy ﬁas moved -to the
west of its oriéinél pogition. On the south‘side of the street,

Elizabeth Street (formerly Little Street)ris shown but not named,
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'and the river appears to come about e%ep with’the l;ng of preseﬁﬁ
Everitt Street. There is an angle to Watér'Strget as it meefs
present. Fulton étreet._ No indication of a mérket is shown in the
Street between Water Street and present Everitt Street in the middle
of 014 Ferry Road, although it reportedly stood until 1814.

The boundary of the river was still shown at Everitt Street
iﬁ 1804. However, that same year, for Block 200, Liﬁer 8,Ap. 1295
and Liber 9, p. 556, dated May '25, 1804, tlere is an indication -
that there was laﬁd filling beyond Everiﬁt'Sfréet to Furman's
property. On September 8, 1804, there is a record of a land
transaction in which William Furman was a grantee7(8e§a 1, Block
200, Liber 8, p. 15%). He figured in land.from{a-Mf. Cooper
along the south side of the ferry wharf, on thezéouthwest side
of the.0ld Ferry Street. Six years later, according to another
record (Sect. 1, Block 200, Liber 9, P. 642) in a conveyance to
Mr., Birdsall, the land appears to extend EeyondiEveritt Street to
the river. About 1814, there appears to have_been a humber of
changes, and land filling appears to have quickened-in.intensity.
According to a record in which Thomas Everitt figures as grantee
(Section 1, Bloeck 201, Liber 11, p. 39), the East River is shown
- a little west of Everitt Street. But the same year; June 12,
1814 (Sect. 1, Block 201, Liber 11, p. 41), Thomas Everitt
acquired land practically to the east side of Furman Street, and
the East River is shown at Furmen Street. (Also, Sect. 1, Blocks
200, 201, April 14, 1914, Liber 11, p. 41 and Liber 8, p.155)
which shows Thomas Everitt's land up to about tﬁe present line of
Furman Street. TFurman Street at the Oid Ferfy Road appears to
have still been part of the East River at this date.  The land

i1l must have been continued westward, because 6h April 1, 1826
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(Sect; i; Block'201, Liver 19, p. 232) a conveyance of land to a
Mr. Henry Onderdonk mentions the property of William Furman on
the present line of Furman Street on the Rivér. fSpecifically, in
1846 (Sect. 1, Block 200, Liber 157, p. 255) there is record of
‘a conveyance of land o Garbiel Furman (William Furman's son),
residing at the corner of Furmanand Fulton Stféété, in which it
appears that there is dry land going westward beyond Furman Street
to the East River. Ten years later, there is a.record on November
1, 1856, that the executors of the estate of Gabriel Furmaq con—
veyed the Furmaﬁ property to the Brooklyn City Rail Road Coﬁpany \
(Sect., 1, Block 200, Liber 435, p. 537). ihis,Was now part of
the 1lst Ward of Brooklyn. The entry for September ;4, 1894
(Sect. 1, Block 201, Liber 2258, p. 160) shows that the Brogklyn
City Rail Road Company occupied the land on théﬂsouth-Side of
Fulton Street and the old Furman estate) between Everitt and
Elizabeth Streets, evidently expanding théﬁselvés to the east. .

After Lt. Ratzer and Taylor's.maps, the next map_bf.any‘feal
detail is W. Jermiah Lott's map of 1816 (Fig. 15) and Lott's
Fulton Street map of 1821 in the St. Francis,Coilege, James‘Kelly
Institute, which shows the width and direction of the 0ld Ferry
Road. Beveral streets were already.established by this time.
The Ferry Road (Main Street at the Brooklyn Ferry) was straightened
out to its approximate present lines. .The ‘narrowest point of the
road was 35 feet wide at a point 124.4 feet from present Water
.Street going upnthe hill. The total distance from Water Street
‘to Front Street was about 221 feet. A point.on the southwest .
corner of Front Street across to the other éide of the 0ld Ferxry
Road was 4i feet 3 inches. The.only street shown in Lo%t'é 1821
maﬁ between the ferry end of the map (unfortunately torn awaj-

i
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and missing) and Hicks Street is Little Street (present Elizabeth
Street), which wag 19 feet wide. The market is éﬁown in the square,
shown ag an oblbng measuring about 35 feet north and south and
ahout 22 feet east and west. The width of the square from the
corner of Water and Fulton building line to the south side of
Fulton Street was about 102 feet. The Lott map in the St. Francis
College Library apparently has no provenience history, but it was
probably one of the base maps, which may have added information to
the finished map of the Village of Brooklyn inl1816 (Fig. 16, 17).
It was this year that the Village of Brooklyn hecamé incorporated,
and an act of legislature gave the power to the trustees of the
new village to make and regulate alleys, highways, to drain,
level and fill up land, to pave and improve the streets and high-
ways, and to keep them in order. Mentioﬁ is also made of the
regulation of Slaughter houses and houses of ill-fame etc.,
(all in one sentence, which gives an insight into the troubles‘
the town elderslfaced)(Furman, 1824, p. 70). Jeremiah Lott's
report of the street levels of Brooklyn was accepted-on April
30, 1821 (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, p.199). There wés a great
flurry of land speculation and improvement about this time on
Brooklyn Heights, which became a very desirable place to live.
Lott's map became obsolete the very next year(1817)when the trustees
of the village had altered the name of 0ld Ferry Road to Fulton
Street in honor of Robert Fulton and a sign board was put up
reinforcing the action two years later in 1819 (Furman, 1822,
pp. 195-6). By this time, the village, which must have been
like a frontier town with all of its bustling activity, had grow-
ing pains. An editorial in the Star dated April 19, 1820

complained that the street near the water (Water Street, pre-
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éumablj) between Catherine Street Ferry and the;Old Ferfy-needed
raising, and that Purman Street, which waé newly opened should
be widened and regulated. The neglect of the streets, and the
danger of fires-because of the tinder-box nature and proximity

of the wooden buildings was a cause of some concern. This latter
was amply Jjustified with the fire storms which leveled parts of
the city. It was authorized to raise Froﬁt Street and be leveled
at its junction with Dock and James Streets, near where Francis
Guy made his memorable street scenes (Furman, 1822, pp. 185-7,
199) (Pigs. 18, 19). Stiles (1869, Vol. IT, p.99) says that the
views were takep from the second floor of the artist's fesidence
which stood at 11 Front Street. Today there is a low two story
municipal building on the spot. ) '

Forman (1822, p.122) spoke of the tide rising to a height
of 17 inches in his basement at the corner of Fulton and Furman
in 1823. About this time, the city fathers saw to it that there
were improvements. The streets had been unpéved, uniegulated,
without sidewalks, and unlighted but by 1824, new avenues and
streets were cut through, nearly all of which had been regulated
and paved ‘as if by magic. Lamps were hung out to light the way
of nocturnal citizems, and carefully constructed side gutters
replaced the poorly managed watercourses which ran down.the middle
of the streets (Furman notes, 1822, pp. 208, 210).

The houses were numbered in 1822 with the limits of Fulton
Street and a stone walk was made from the ferry gate fo Water
Street in 1825 (Armbruster, 1919, p.16). Street lamps were
proposed to be erected in 1828 at an éstimatéd cost of $14.31 per
lamp. per annum (ibid.), A major change qccurred on Fulton Street

in 18%4-5, when the buildings on the north side of the street
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were demolished from Water Street to Front Street (the democratic
side_gs opposed to the aristocratic side of the south side of the
street) (Armbruster, 1919, p.16; Stiles, 1869, Vol, II, p.254).
The street was additionally widened in 1829 (Stiles, 1884, Vol. I,
P.9%3). There was violent opposition to this. It is presumed
that the resultant debris was used as land fill on the water front.
This increased vigor may be attributable to the fact that Brooklyn
had been incorporated as a c¢ity in 1834 (Furman, 1822, p.211).
The northern (or northeastern) side of Fulton Street was really
created between 18356 and 1839, with the construction of the line
of buildings occupying the front line of Fulton Street (with the
exception of the buildings closest to Front Street (Rosebrock, et
al, 1975, p.4). All of these first'block Fulton Street buildings
were bullt in a kind of Greek revival type although this is hard
to tell today for the grime and delapidation of the buildings.
Nos. 5-7 is an 1834 building.

Next to importance to the Corporation House, which had the
~most notable history, was perhaps the corner of Fulton and Water
Streets, with the location of the several hotels and public places,
functioning to this day at the spot. Originally dating from about
the early 1800's was situated the tavern of a Captain King. It
was afterwards owned about 1819 by a Mr. Barnum("Barnum's
House"),and followed by the "Steamboat Hotel", owned first by
a Mr. Young and'thén by a Gerard Langdon (proprietor from 1816
to 1822). PFollowing this was the Franklin House (Armbruster, 1919,
p.23; Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, pp. 49-51; Fig.16-19) which was built
on the same spot in 18%9. On February 13, -1865 a conveyance to
Robert, Hutchinson, shows the Fulton Street ferry slip and the

Franklin House at the corner of Water Street and Fulton Street in
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Liber 630, p.39; hig hotel was still in existence in 1900.
Comparing -the 1857 illustration (Fig. 20) of Pulton Street look-
ing eastward from the corner of Fulton Street and Furman Btreet,
the building of Franklin House is shown. 'The name appears just
above the second story windows on both corners of Water Street
and Fultoﬁ Street, with.the legend "Brooklyn Hotel" above the
windows of the third stdry. Comparing a recent photograph taken
from the same corner looking toward the corner of Water and Fulton
Streets_shows that there is a family resemblance between the 1857
illustration and the 1977 photograph. There were fenovations of

the hotel in the 1860's, in which window pediments were added to

smarten up the window lines. One of the pediments (illustration
Rosebrock et al, 1975, p.8) is missing, revealing the block
letters of either "NU" or "NO" in the space where the pediment
had been (Rosebrock, ibid.). Could this have beén part of the
name "Barnum's"(?).

The new century of the 1800's, when the Revolutionary War
was fresher in the minds of the people than World War I is today,
the new surge of budding Industrial Age effects bégan to be
felt in the New World. The Brooklyn, Jamaica and Flatbush Turn-
pike Company was incorporated in 1809, a landmark in transportation,
since emphasis began to be placed on year-round passage bf the
roads. As late as 1840 ail public highwaﬁs‘were nothing more
than dirt tracks with the exception of the Jamaica and Brooklyn
?lank Road, which serviced only a small portion of the Brooklyn
limits. The turnpike company abandoned that portion of its road
which lay within the village limits, below Red Hobﬁ'Lane, which
was actually part of the village system. There were two branches,

one leading to the New Ferry at Main Street and the second to the
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014 Ferry (Armb?uster, 1919, p.13). Awareneésiof importance and
civiec pride manéfested itself in 1813 with the ordering of the
lpoﬁstruction of?gravel sidewalks held from the.roadway by curb-
stones in the Oid Ferry and New Perry districts, and the place-
ment of street signboards, no doubt for the convenience of visitors
and passers-through.

When the 01d Ferry lease expired in 1813, Robert Fulton and
his partner William Cutting successfully petitioned for and
obtained a franchise to operate a ferry to run from 014 Ferry
to the Ply Market,and Burling Slips in New York (Armbruster,

1919). Therfirét steam boat, the "Nassau" to begin the run on
May 10,'1814, carried as many as 550 passengers, hesides a few
wagons, etc. on one trip. The name of the Old Ferry Road. was
changed in Fulton's honor to Fulton Street, and similarly the
landing in New York was named Fulton Street (Langstaff, 1933,
p.21l). The name change carried to Red Hook Lane in Brooklyn
(Armbruster, 1919, p.25).

The road and ferry improvement must have acted like a tonic
on the village, which by 1816 was about 140 years old. The
junction of the two most important streets (0ld Ferry Road, or
Fulton Street and New Ferry Road, or Main Street) was well lined
with bgildings of wvarious types, inciuding Yankee wood frames
houses and "humpbacked" Dutch houses built either of stone or of
small imported bricks (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, p.34).

The village suffered a set-hack. in 1822, when it was plagued
-with outbreaks of ship-borne Yellow Fever. New York was hard
hit, and the business activities were transferéd south to Greenwich
Village, compelling the'ferryboat "Nassau" to make the longer
run between 0ld Ferry in Brooklyn and Greenwich (Armbruster, 1919).



. - -27— .
The floating‘bridge introduced in 1822, made transfer from the
shore to the fefry less of a hazard. The bridge; which roéé and
fell with the chénging tide, was aided by counterbalancing
weights on the shore and spring piles. The former. was the in-
vention of Robert Fulton, while the latter was the addition of
R. L. Stevens. The critical embarkation and debarkation momeﬁts
were helped by this invention which soon found acceptance on the
ferries (Booth, 1859, p. 687). The Fulton Street ferry changed
hands a number of times until its last run in 1924 (Rosebrock
et al, 1975, p.6). Between the introduction of the "Nassau"
and the year 1871, there were 38 named ferry boats which docked
at Fulton Street (Armbruster, 1919) (Fig. 21, 22, 23). Imn its
later years, the ferry underwent incorporation, with the New
York and Union ﬁerry Company from 1839 to 1844; Brooklyn Ferry
Company operating between 1844 and 1851; the'Union Ferry Company
from 1851 to 1854; and the Union Ferry of Brooklyn incorporating
in 1854 (Stiles, Vol. II, p.303).

From its early position close to Front Street, the ferry
house was changed to the ferry landing area after-the 014 Corporation
house was burned in 1812. The Fulton Ferry housé, which stood
about opposite the old Franklin Hotel on Water Street, was im-
proved in 1865 (Fig. 24). This ferry house waé replaced by a
‘classic Victorian age structure in 1871 (Fig. 25) which reportedly
cost $138,000 (Armbruster, 1919). When this ferry, the queen of
New York City ferries was retired in 1924, it broﬁght to an end
nearly three centuries of service. -

When Brooklyn wés made a city in 1834, the. real city was
the Brooklyn Ferry,!wﬁile the rest of the larger former town was

still a kind of suburbia or farming district. The ferry area was
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the central shopping area for the majority of Long Islanders, and

it was se:vicedlby livery stables, hotels, stores and taverns.
Fifty feet from the ferry gate was the Liberty Pole, which was
erected on July:4, 1822, Where the 0ld cattletenc;osure had been
at the southwest end of Fulton Street toward the river, was a
group of buildings including a stagé house and grocery with livery
stebles (Armbruster, 1919, . 22, 23; Stiles; 1869, Vol. II, p.4l1).
About 50 or 60 feet east of the flagstaff in the middle of Fulton
Street stood the old Fly Market. By this time it was s long and
shabby wooden structure, its foot about 35 feet up the_sﬁreet from
the corner of Fulton and Purman, and its head about five feet

from the corner of Elizabeth Street (Fig.16, 17). It was con-
sidered a nuisance, and evidently in some disrepair, and as with
0ld, neglected buildings, it was demolished ome night by 5 group
of young men and boys in 1814 (Stiles, 1869, Vol. ITI, p. 38, 40).
William Furman occupied a large double frame house located at
point No. 1 (Figs. 16, 17), which is now No. 8 Fulton Street.
After Furman came the Brooklyn City Railrocad Company, which built
The present fine structure. The significance of this is that the
building line on the south side of Fulton Street evidently held
firm from at least 1814, in contrast to the opposite side of the
street which saw a number of refacings. TFurman kept an oyster
house in the basement nearest the water. Since he was only

steps away from the ferry, in fact in front of the ferry stairs,
he.commanded a ready clientele. For the moderate charge of ‘
twelve and a haif cents, a person could eat as many of the fine
roasted oysters he could manage at one sitting (Stiles,.1869,

Vol. II, p.40). The East River oysters were renowyn for their

excellence, and there is a report that they attained foot long
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lengths. Qﬁ the western side of the Furman houée was competition
to Furman's oyster house, in the form of another Furman, un-
related to William Furman, who kept a fish and oystgr house in a
small shanty. There was still a third oyster "saloon" (No. 4,
Pig. 16) which had occupied the area of the "ladies sitting room"
of the ferry house of Stiles' day (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, p.49)
opposite the old Franklin Hotel. A Mr. Daniel Wright, the pro-
prietor of this 1816 oyster house used to keep his product
conveniently fresh by storing them in the water which flowed
beneath his house. Of incidental note, this gentleman's
establighment stood Jjust a couple yards north of the outlet for
the sewer which was pushed through in the second half of the same
century. Undoubtedly this marked the demise of the oyéter business,
at least locally obtained oysters.

As the ferry service was improved with the introduction of
steam powered engines and improved equipment for carrying and
landing passengers and other locads, so the land transport im-
proved. The Flushing Stage coach ran until 1854,_when the iron
horse, the Flushing and North Shore Rail Road put an end to this
mode of transport as a welcome relief (Armbruster, 1919, p.l1l).
The same year, the street cars of the Brooklyn City Rail Road
Company, which made its headouarters at 8 Fulton Street on the
former home site'pﬁtw;;%iam Furman, made tﬁeir first tfips'on
Fulton Street and othef routes (Armbruster, 1919, p.26; Stiles,
1869, Vol. II, p. 302). The Coney Island Rail Road ran from
Fulton Ferry to Coney Island in 1869, adding to the congestion
of horse drawn traffic~ih the ferry district (Stiles, 1869,

Vol. Ii, p.o46) (Figs. 22, 23). About the.middle of the 19th

century, all of the important business tramnsactions took place
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in the area of the_Fultoﬁ Ferry. Banks, insurance coﬁpaﬁies anﬁ
newspaper offiéés (principally the Brooklyn Daily Eaélej weTe
clustered in the first block of Fulton Street. The lawyers
habitually congregated seeking business about the corner of Fulton
and Front Streets at the"Lawyer's Corner". The Business portion
of the ciﬁy was transferred to the area around City Hall when
this building was erected, aided unquestionably by the later con-
struction of the Brooklyn Bridge which by-passed %he Fulton Ferry
district (Figé._24, 25). The population of the city grew by
leaps and bounds. It was 40,000 about 1845 and Jjust é few years
later after the Civil War in 1869, the population of Brooklyn
stood at nearly 300,000 (Stiles, 1969, Vol. II, p.496-7).

After the streets had assumed stabilization, of at least.
had been laid doﬁn in some kind of permanent seﬁblaﬁée, the city
fathers of Brooklyn began to think seriocusly about the diéposal
of sewage,_lighting and other services which necessitated cutting
into the streets. The Brooklyn Gas Light Co. wés iﬁtérested in
lighting the streets in 1824, but this proposal did not materialize.
Another pfoposition to light Fultoh Street was made four years
later (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, pp. 221, 228). Gas .was finally
introduced to Brooklyn for the first time in 1848 (ibid., D. 279).
" They must have dug pipe into the ground like beavers, because
only five years later, there were 22 miles;bf;street mains laid
by the Brooklyn Gas Company. This peribd must have been a trying
one for Brooklyn residents, since a full and permanent water
supply was brought in by 1851 (ibid, pp.295—6), and the streets
must have been torn up everywhere. The building of the water
works created a new problem, since wéter now became easily obtain-

able and once used, it had to be disposed of, and waste water had
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to be carried off. So long as well water had been'tsédf the small
quantities ébtained in this manner made no probiem=fof &isposal. '
" Before 1857, thé time when a comprehensive repQrt for the drain-
age of Brooklyn was drawn up, some five and a half ﬁileé of sewers
had been built in the city. Most of these were large enough
for men to enter and to clean out any waste accumulations causing
stoppages (Stiles, 1884, Vol. I, p.592). These sewers were
really storm sewers, built for the purpose of draining'ponds
which had become filled up with rain after storms. They were
not hoocked up with houses, which depended upon.cesspools for
their waste water disposal. The fallacyof the:large-sewers was
discovered by the engineers about the 1850's, énd the smaller
diameter seWerslwere advocated as being more efficient.' The
plan of 1858, as drawn up by a Col. Adams, advised that the'main
sewers in all cases discharge into tide water (ibid., pp. 592-30).
There was to be one main sewer discharging into the river, with.
its greatest diameter at the outlet, and gradually diminishing in
gize with distance from the outlef. The smallest diameter used
was 1l2-inch pipe sewers, which comprised the greatest length of
pipe. The effect of raw sewage dumping into the river was
recognized, w:‘l__th the eventual serious consequences for the
character of New York Harbor. Stiles (ibid. p.593) maae the
prophetic remark that "The time will probably come when it will
be found necessary to build interceptiﬁg sewers, as has been
done with a few years for the city of London, and discharge the
sewage int; the waters of the ocean". Of coﬁrse, the later.
solution was no solution at all. The elevation of the bottom of
.the sewers was established at one foot above the low water

level, and with an average tide of about five feet, it meant
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that theré was some back up of sewers which had to be occasionally
cleaned out ﬁanually. o | | _

The Fulton Street view (Fig. 26) which sﬁows the Brooklyn
" Bridge (finished 1884) and the Brooklyn Daily'ﬁagle still exist-
ing (the Eagle‘Stprage Co. was built on the ground of this
newspaper when it moved in 1899) indicates some of the busy
aspect of the street. There are horse drawn cérs, with four sets
of tracks (actually there are 9 rails.in the view) terminating
at the ferry; The ferry building in the"shadow" of the bridgeg
(Fig. 27) dominates the end of the street just the other side of
 Water Street. .

The elevated trains brought rapid transit to Brooklyn, with
the coﬁstructioh of the Kings County Elevéted Railway, which had
a terminus at the Fulton Ferry. The elevétéd waé taken down in
1941, and it is sai& that great quantities of iron from the °
structure had been earlier sold as scrap to'Japén. The concrete
supports for the elevated ére still linea up'ﬁélqw streét level,
and the Consolidated Edison Co. learned a lesson at least on.one
occasion when they tried unsuccessfully to push thfough one of
these piers. In the King's View of Brooklyn, QAnonymous, 1904,

. P.39),there is a view of the Fulton'Stfeet district, with the
Brooklyn Bridge dominating the scene. According to the caption
of the photograph, the area was changing from a residential to
a zone of manufacturing and warehousing interests, which has
perpetuated'to the present. The shops and thelactivity of the
shoppers, etc. depicted in the earlier views (Fig. 26) are gone.

Pregsently the aspect of the Fulton Sfreet district is a
short—cut thoroughfare for motorized traffic along Furmaﬁ Street

to Atlantie Avenue, and to the bridge and the Brooklyn Queens
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Fxpressway in ﬁhe vieinity of Fulton Street. When Ehips d66k'at
Pier No. 1, off the end of Fulton Street, 1arge'trucks stand in
line like elephants waiting to be charged with'caréo, or waiting
to discharge their loads, compounding tﬁe tréffic congestion and

raising the noise decible to an uncomfortable level.



TABLE 1~

OLD FERRY STEEET

(Fulten Strest)

SECTION | ‘ . =0 BEOCKS - 9/10 MI1IE
1 35 45 pls Vs 84 95
102 112 117 126 155 139
144 149 150 . 153 200 201
202 207 21z 217 222 227
252 238 =49 SIS 256 265
EECORTDED LT8R o PAGE
”Highway” ——1&45 Befgens
) Genealogy 46
"The Wagon Road Stiles - -
Vel, 1
12/%/1852
"Kings Highway" 4/25/1701 2 205
"Queens Road" ' 1/21/1725-5 3 203
- "Common Highway 5/8/1708 3 241
"High Road or Street lead—  4/20/1740 5 129
ing to the Ferry"
"Brooklyn Road ' 3/12/1800 15 92
"Main Street, leading from 5/9/1800 7 o 203%
the Ferry to Brooklyn" i
"0l4 Ferry Street or 8/2/1304 8 . 127
Highway" . :
"Street leading from the 1/20/1807 23 181

Ferry to Brooklyn Church"

"01d Ferry Street" changed 16/5/1817  Villags
to "Fulton Street" : _ By-laws

*Courtesy James Xelly Institute, 5%. Francis College
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SEWER CUT AND THE GEOLOGICAL PROETLE:

The Red Hook Branch Intercevting Sewer will be a 30-inch
diameser line extending up Fulton Street from a rezulator (Reg.
R-17) about 15 feet from the southwest corner of the old Marine
Fire Departﬁept'building, (constructed the year the Fulton Ferry
ceased to operate in 1924). .The vproposed sewer (an open cut all
the way) will extend in the constructicn planned some 900 feet )
along Fulton Street to a point opposite Hicks Street, where it
will join a 108-inch digmeter intercepting sewer. Fulton Street
is its narrowest between buildings.from the corner of Fulton and
Front Streets to the south side cf Fulton Street, measuring aboﬁt
90 feet. From curb to curb is aboutb 50 feet; It is recalled
that the width of +the street was a mere 35 feet about 160 years
ago, when the old "Corporation House" stood at Nos. 19; 21 and
2% Fulton Street, marked today by the "Waxman Building" (No. 19),
and an earthen parking lot (¥os. 21, 23). It is recalled thét
there was some widéning of the sfreet on the south side of the-
street in the early 1800's when .the disﬁillery owner Pilerrepont
volurteersd to cut back dn his proverty iﬁ the Hicks Street area.
Cn a line jﬁst to the south or at the present curbside of the
suspected site of the Corporation House foundations, there are
two abandoned elevated railroad piers spaced about 50 feet apart..
Tﬁey 2 ébbut where the foundations should come to-(at either end
of the buiiding, ezst and west, beloﬁ the éidewalk). Further
exzrination of the plan indicates that the combinsd widths of
the Waxman Building plus the parking lot equals ©0 feet, or

th

]

evact documsnted width of the Ccrporation House. This appears

to be more than Just coincidence. In any proposed excavation,

~35-
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this area, particularly, should be examined by a trained investigator
for possible architectural and otherwise remains;

At its eastern end near Hicks Street, the bottom of the
sewer or invert elevation 1s -7.44 (below.O datum, which is about
ground water elevation). At its western end, close to the Marine
Fire House, the sewer or invert elevation is -5.84 feet below
O elevation. At its eastern end, the invert line of the sewer
is about 28 feet below the existing street surface, and at the
western end, it is about 13 feet below the ground level. There
is an added depth for the regulator (down to about fifteern feet
below ground level)at the weét end, and an added depth for the'
iﬁterceptingssewer at the east (Hické Stweet) end, down to a
depth of 39 feet below ground level. To lay the séwer, there
will be an open cut measuring about 7 feet wide and about 25 feet
deep'(wifh the exception of the two ends, where the depths of
the excavations will be correspondingly deeper).

Thirteen borings to deterimne the subsurface geology 5f
lower Fulton Street were made by the City geologists as part of
the study. These borings (Nos. 41, 424, 43C, L&, 45, 45, 47, 48,
49, 50, 51, S30A and 31) were made for the most part on the
southern side of the street and only two. borings (Nos. S0 and 51)
were made in the near proximity of the proposed present sewer |
construction. Unfortunately while the gsological borings do give
us véry valuable information as to the subsurface conditions, they
do not give us the kind of information needed for a preciss
archasolegical assessmant.. For instance, we do not obtaiﬁ the
fine layering as can be visually obtalned in an exposed excavation,
and thus miss the finer details. These debtails, were thsy obtain-

able might be keyed to historical street changes (leveling of
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buildings, resurfacing of sfree in a vertical perspective). Con-
sidering plan views, TO obtzin ﬁetail‘in depth in plan perspective-
is a difficult matter even in ths usual archaeological excavatioh.
le to us are contenm orary street maps, plus old maps of the
area. .It is recognized that to effect such an assessment in

Street 1s rendered easier Dy comparison of building lines,’
etc. as dravn up in deeds, wills, and rortgages as well as maps
such as Lott's map of 1816 (Fig. 15). It is assumed that given
the nature of the sswer excavation (with pilings, the use of heavy
'machinery etc.j, plus theinarrowness of the proposed cut, it is
unlikely +that a high precision of horizontal planning of the street
cen be done archaéologically.

Given =11 of these qualifying conditions, we can only
approximate the nature of the subsurface conditions from the
borings in the zone of the sewer cut, which is presumably a fair
épproximation, since tThe originzl sitrest roughly fdllowed the
~same lines as at present. The exception is that %he north side
of the street (called in the early 19th Century the "Democratic
Side") had been moved back and straightened out somewhat to its
prasent line in the 1830's. |

The existing &-foot sewer, which eﬁpties in the East River,
follows the center of Fulton Strest from the river. Its con-
struction qertainly must‘have.made-a great gouge in the street.

No mentich has been found in the literature of what the cut had

%

of archasological or historical remazins.

)

Tturned up in the natur
In all 1likelihood there was no trained invesbtigator on the spot
(zs usuzl). This old sewer cut is particularly intriguing, since
it would kave to cubt through the place where the "Fly Market"

of the Fulton Ferry had stood extending between Furman and
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Zlizabeth Btreet. But i1t is extremely doubtful that there would

o

e any traces left of this structure, since it had been described

]

s 2 rickety wooden building in very dilapidated condition when

I.J-

t was demolished early in the 1800's.

Flarking both sides of Thsz street are the gas, water and
glectricity lines, which have ziso made their own respective
street excavations. A number of these are indicated as "retired"
or "disvsed", . indesed, relics. Svzaced the length of Fulton
Street about 50-60 feet apart are 2 number of abandoned concrete
piers of the former Fulton Street elevated, which was torn down
in 1941, These piers straddled the 0ld sewer, and the new sewer,
folloﬁing a path just to the norta of the old sewer, similarly
threads its way througﬁ the piers. To:ﬁnravel the sequence of
street-subsurface cuttings for ths laying down of the sefvice_
lines, sewers, as well as surface disruptions resulting from-
street pavings, and repavings, zvreet car 1ine$ and the elevated,
is a complicated history in its=ir in this bit of ancient Brooklymn.
Indsed, all it lacks-is en undsrzround subway t0 make it the most
-intensely torn up street in Brookliyn.

The geologicél samples from the Fulton Strest borings were
ex=mined by Dr. R. Solecki irn company with Mr. Irving Ostrofsky
and Hr. Pefer Kuuk, Lepartment of Public Works geologists, at
storage points in a Coney.Islani sewage treatment plaﬁt and in
ths basement of the Manhattan Municipal Coutrhouse. The borings
were mpade to a maximum depth of sbout 60 feet, but with a more
general and averags depth of abocut 50 feet from the surface. Five
zaological solil horizons ars evident in the geological profile,
wnich may be identified as soil Layers a, b, ¢, d, &, and £, from

- 5op to bottom. The top Layer & is 2 blanket of fill which is
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thicker at its yestern end, and thinnei toward The eastern énd
of the section. It reaches to zbout 30 feet in line with-the
western éide of HFurman Street, thins going eastward, reaching a
minimum depth of about five feet about Front Street;_and then
thickens to about 15 feet at the line of Hicks Street. This
profile of the bottom of the f£ill line appears to folilow quite
faithfully our information as derived from the early 18th century
illustrations of lower Fulton Strset (01d Ferry Road), and from
the written descriptions and land éonveyances.

According to Stiles (Vol. 1, 188%, p.111), there was a hill
between POPiar, Hicks, Furman and Orange SBtreets, whichiwaS'used
during the Eevolutionary War as a burying-ground for British
soldiers,and.sailors. The hill, gravés and all, appears fo.haver
been levelled af the close of the war. No mention is made of
whatv bedame_of the soil, but the Hast River could have been a
convenient dumping spot, end it appears very likely that with the
presence ofrthe Fulton Street lznding néarby, the land fill found
its way to fthat point. The torn down buildings on Fulton Streest

would have provided additional £ill, accounting for the brick. -

h

régments ete. whnich have been encountéred. in the borings. One

O
14

the problems is that we do not knoﬁ the sequence of fill
historically from the borings. This kind of information can be
derived from an examination of the cut, in situ.. For instance, it
is clearly evident that There were al least two major sequences

to the land fill. Tirst there was an extension beyond Bveritt
Street intco the river et about the elevation of the o0ld Corporation
House at ca. four feet above Ths ground water liné to about

FPurman Street. This was later capped by the fill layer which

brought the level to that Today.
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It is recalled that in tThe illustrations, there was a kind
of a sand ridge on the eastern side of Front Street which paralleled
the beach. Also, the high tide level occasionzlly came to the
western side of Front Street well into the end .of the 18th century.
The elevation of the soil in the area of Front Street appears %o
confirm The existence of the :idge. It is also to be recalled
that the old water line stoocd zbhout Everitt Street (or crossed
the szme) and then bent around.to‘the north side of Fulton Street
where there seems to have been a still-water cove and followed
Front Street to the east ard north. The geclogical profile in-
dicates that westward from the area of Everitt Street.is fill,
since it had been underwater. Certain bpildings, such as the
Furman House on Furman énd Fulton Streets for instance, were built
on filled land.

The Corporation House. which stood opposite Elizaﬁeth
Street and slightly up Fulton Sitrset is estimated to have been
situated on the flal about the middle of the ssction opposite
bore holes Nos. 46 and 45. This conforms with the illustrations
as noted.

The descriptions of The soil horizons are aé follows:

Layer a -~ This is the widespread fill, containing sénd,
gravel, silt, boulders, brick, wood, concrete, plaster aﬁd some
shells. It has a'depth of about %0 feet plus, toward the East
River and é depth of about.1l5 feet at its eastern end, with a
snallower depth zbout the position of boring No. 44 (ca. 5 feet).
The bottom of the Fill line follows the natural undulations of
the original beach and terfain glevations. By volume, approximately
three-fifths of the fill lies sbove the ground water line. The

nypothesis has been advanced that this landfill was made in at
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ed in the borings.
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Layer b - This is a lens of sand ranging from fine to
medium grade sand, containing some orgznic silt and some shells.
It has a marked slope downward to the river resting like  a
veneer on the front of underlyinz Layer ¢. This lens b has a
maximum thickness of about thres feev and measures about 25 feet -
on the slope. About 17/ feet of this lens 1is below ground water
level. From its position, it would apvear that the lens re-
presents the original beach, and it is conceivable that the
shells, etc. found in it repressnts material dumped there as a
convenient disposal point by the 18th century i _abitants of the
0ld Ferry district. The othgr-alternative was‘that the shells
represented ancient Indian kitchen midéén,remains. Consultation
with Dr. Walter Newman of the Devartment of Geology of Queens
ege, CUNY, revealed that if vhe shell deposits were truly
aboriginal, they should be ancient. Dr. Newnman said that else-
where In vhe New York srea, szboriginal shell depcsits, ete. at
a depth of gbout eignt feet below sz2 level had a date of about
- 3000 years old. K There was another date of about 6000 years.age
for & sea stand at some 40 feet Delow sea level.

Laysr ¢ — This layer is a widespread lens extending from
the foot of Fulton Street to Hicks Street, attentuated at both
epds. It is composed of seven sub-lenses or pérts, all various
mixtures of-sand. It slopes toward the East River, following the
conformity of the underlying bass soil, Layer £. At the top of
this s0il horizon is a lens of lzyered brown silt, which lies
unconformably over a fine to coars= brown sand containing a trace
of silt. Both lenses lay unconformstly over a sudb-lens of fine

brown sand containing a trace of silt and a trace of grevel. It
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extends from about Everitt Strsst to Hicks Street, and overlies
at the eastern end two smaller sub-lenses which follew the original
ridge elevation at Front Street. These sub-lenses are reépectively
fine sand with a trace of silt, and layered fine brown sand,
containing some gravel and some silt. A% the western end is a
small thin. river sloping veneer of fine to coafse brovn sand with
a iittle gravel and a trace of éilt. This sub-lens originally
stood at the original beach front. The bottom sub-lens of Layer ¢
is composed of fine to coarse brown sand containing some gravel
and a trace to little silt. About two-thirds of Layer ¢ lies
below O datuﬁ, or ground water level. It has a maximum thickness
of 28 feet.

iayer_g - This ié 2 so0il horizon ffohting on the original
East River beach lire containing gray organic silt, a trace of
fins sand, and a trace of shells. It has a maximum thickness of
eight feet. This horizon has a marked dowpward slope at its
base, and a rather flat or horizontal up?er surface. It rests
unconformably on  Layer e.

Layer e -~ This is a thin lens of soil'containing gravei,
some organic silt, a littie fine sand and some shells. The
middle of this horizon stands avout the line of Furman Street, and
it was there that Williem Furman had his oyéter house in the
pasement of his dwelling on the corner of Fulton and Furman
Streets.

Lajer f -~ This is the Pleistocene age basal horizon contzin-
ing fine to medium and fire To coarss brown sarnd, with a trace to
some gravel and a trace to little silt. It includes some occasional -
boulders. This soil horizon sloves toward the river from east to

west, with a kind of swale about the line of Everitt Street, which
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aé has besn roted before, isg aboul the_line of the old East River
front.
The sewer invert will cub across abopt the middle of the
sicping soil horizon Layer ¢ which forﬁs the greater part of the

overburden lying unconformably over Leyer f.



STREET PAVING: .

Thg following informetion is derived from two different.
publications of the "List of_Paved Streets in the Borough of
Brooklyn", the earlier one anmnotated by Burt (1943), and the other
Anonymous (1960), found in the Department of Highways, 40 Worth
Street, New York City. The earliest record for street paving in
the ferry district found is 1835, which is about the earliest
xncwn for Brooklyn (the earliest date noted by Burt is 1833).

The'first record is a nots in Burt's hand indicating that
the street between Fulton Ferry and Front Street was graded and
paved on December 21, 1835. It was next paved.with granite
blocks; Grads 2 on six inches of concrete, in June, 1911. The
widths of the street from the ferry area ranged from_57 to 110
feet, then 45 to 48 feel, and then 49 4o 54 feet. DPresently fhe
blocks are coversd with a thin veneer of asphalt, which has
broken through in a numbgr of places under the impact of constant

traffic, revealing once again the loaf-shaped granite blocks.
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Ehere is clear cut evidercs that tThis proposed sewer cut
will traverse a most impoertant nistoric part of old Brooklyn, and
that although ths street has alrzady been cut into by various
agencies (the old six fbot sewer, elevaied railroad piers, gas
lines, etc.) to 211 indicationg thers appearé to be enough
archaeclogical aﬁd historical evidencs in the ground to warrant
a careful watch. Because the szmpleg regulting from the borings
were inadéquate for a good and complete appréisal of the cultural
materials suspected in The soli horizons, additicnal Borings were
suggested at a meeting of the principals involved in thg in-
véstigétion ét Federal Plaée,' ne Environmental Protection Agency
on Jaruary 12, 1977. The members vresent included Mr. Aﬁgust
Matzdorf, of the envinenrina firm of Mason & Hanger-Silas Mason
Co.,'Inc., Mr. Ric ard Walka of the EPA, Mr. Sudhir Parekh of
the N.Y.C. D.W;R., Dr. Bert Salwsn of Mew York University
(archasological consultant te the EPA), and the author. At the
mesting it was decided To plzce ten borings at strategic points
on Fulton Street and at Soralemon Street. This was followed out
over a period of 17 working days between Februéry 7th and March

rd. A doctoral candidate graduate student from Columbia University,

=t

Ir. Thomssg McGovern, M.A., M,Phil. (Antaropology) was the archaeo—~
logical éssistant who oObserved zné made thé collections for a
more detailed scrutiny of the soils.

S0 far as can be determinsd from the records, the proposed
intercepting branch sewer cut will run Through the site of the
0ld "Fly Market" at the foot of Fulton Street. However, it is
tnlikely that any trace of the huilding will be seen since accord— -
ing to a contemporary eye-witness, it had been constructed of wood,

45



and was demclished in 1814, If our calculations and measure-
ments are correct, the present 5-foot sewer cut through the site

of the market over a hundred ye

b
n

ago when this sewer was run
down to the Bast River. The provosad intercepting:branch sewer
will cub very clese to the old Corvoration Houss, bubt so far as
can bs determined from its location, ths excavation will miss it.
However, since the site area is rsadily availabie for testing
Wwith the presence of an oper lot over the site plus the fact

that theres appears to be only about seven or eight feet of over-
burden of f£ill, a way should be found to make a teét‘eicﬁvation
there. Exposure of the tavern foundation will certainly enhance
the historic value of the district, and will be 2 tourist attraction
such as not to be found anywhers else in the city to the author's

Imowledge.



HISTORY OF JORATEMON STREZET, ATLANTIC AVENUE
and FURMAN STREET BETWEZN JORATEMON STREE”
~_and ATLANTIC lV_TUE

ITNTRODUCTION

The history of these thres streets is dividedvup into three
parts as named, and are descrlo i sepzrately. There is necessar-
ily some overlap in information esmong these three, since the
areas are contiguous,_in fact form an integral unit. AllL
of these streets had been made or land fill, which covered a
sheltering cove which extended between Atlantic Avenue and
Joralemon Street. It is presumed- that the major portion of the land-

fill must have come from the bluffs of Brooklyn Eeights in the

1830's when there was.an increase in building activity.

The sections called Geological Profile, similarly, con-
sider these three streets separately in describing the subsurface
nature of the soil. The séction called Streét Pavings however
considers all of these threse streets as a unit, and are described
as such. _

The total length of the sawer in the proposed work is
sbout 1850 feet, forming a kind of U shaped feature. The U.S.
bulkhead line-lies -about 450 feet west of the western side of
FPurman Street. Both Atlantic Avenue and Joralemon‘Street sewers
will be laid in open cuts, whereas the Furmén Street sewer join-
ing the two above will be mined in a funnel. The latter street |
is a very busy one, and the Brookljyn-Queens Expressway wnich 1is
routed élong the east side of Furmen Street adds to the complexity
of engineering problems at this juncture. The footing,on the
castern side of Furman Street, of the expressway blocked the
possibility of putting a test boring in that part of the‘stree?,

(Fig. 37).
. e



JORALEMON STREET

HISTORY:

According to the éarly maps of this part of Brooklyn, there
was.a cove in a kind of half moon arc extending from about the
foot of Joralemon Street extending.inland and arcing out again‘
in the vicinity of present Atiantic Avenue (formerly District
Street) (Fig. 28). |

There'was originally a large flat extending at the foot
of Joraiemon, where a lMr. H. Pierrepont erected his distillery
in the early;ISOO's (Btiles, 1869, Vol. II, p.160). It is said
that - the original Brooklyn- ferry did not run from Fulton Street,
" but from the foot of Joralemon' Street, and it was only later that
the main ferry point was shifted to Fulton Street. The original
ferry ran to present Broad Street on the Manhattan side (Furman,
1865, p.29; Antiquities of Long Island, 1874, p.303). The
original Joralemon Street, or Joralemon's Lané, as all earlﬁ
well used roads must have been before the days of regulation
and paving, was a miserable rutted dirt road winding its way
between the Joralemon and Remsen farms down to the beach., It
ran down a ravine along the southérn border of present Brookiyn
Heights. It was 6rigiﬁally 1aid out as a road of “éonvenience"
down %o the Livingston distillery, which stood ocut-on fiat near
the beach. This road measuréd gbout 32 feet wide in 1762. It

easured some 50 feet wide affer improvements in 1801 (Stiles,
Vol. II, p.13%2; Armbruster, 19139, p.26). Joralemon Street was
widened to 66 fest between Henry Street and the Easf River on
Auzust 4, 1842 (Dikeman, 1870, p.64).
| Cn April 13, 1835, H. B. Pierrepont was authorized by the -
citj to erect and maintain a bulkhezad, dock, wharf and piers on

e
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his land at the foot of Joralemon Street. A year later, there is
noted that the Hicks and Smiths docks were present at the foot
 of Jorelemon Street, (Dikeman, 1870, pp. 108,111).

~There was a ship disaster during the American Revolution,
when a British Man of War, presumably became loose of its moor-
ings during é storm, was driven ashore nearrthe foot of present
Joralemon St:eet. There' she was egbendoned, and the local residents
made use of her timbers (Stiles, Vol. II, p.1%2). Livingston,
a wealthy residént of Brooklyn, owned a brewery at the foot of
Joraiemon Street.in the late 18th century wﬁich was burnéd &uring
the American Revolution. H. Pierrepont, another very wealthy
early Brooklynite, bought the Livingston facility in 1802, and
established his distillery thers, called the Anchor Gin Distillery
(Figs. 33, 34). It was an early monopoly, since it was thé only
one of its kind in the state, and reportedly highly profitable
to Pierrepont (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, pp.1%1,148). Pierreport
made a large enterprise of his business, for he rebuilt the old
brewéry building, adding a large wharf, and a windmill, which was
run exclusively for the purposes of the distillery. He keph tﬁe
gin stored in several large wooden storehouses, aging his product
for a full ﬁear, thereby acquiring the mellowness and flavor for
" which Anchor gin became noted and appreciated (Stiles, 1869,
Vol. ITI, Map B, 64). Pierrepont improved his water f?ont using
timber in 1818, after he found that the cost of using stone was
too expensive. The 01d Ferry Eouse at Joralemon's Landing stood
nearly on the same site as the 0ld Eagle Tavern under the c¢liff
of the heights, about the northeast corner of Furman and Joralemon
Streets. This point is entirely cbliterated now by the Brooklyn—
Queens Expressway, which traverses the length of the eést side

of Furman Street (Fig. 37). It is a pity that cognizance of this
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bit of hiétory was not recognizad during the construction of the
exXpressway.

There was a public lan&ing place south of Pierrepont's
distillery (Stiles, 1859, Vol. IT, p.l?)‘which was in eﬁistence
after the death of Pierrspont. Uowards from Pierrepont's
distillery toward Fulton Street thers was an open éapdy beach
along which passage sometimes was rendered impassable by fThe
tide (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, p.l13%1).

The Anqhor gin distillery was discontinued about 1819 after
the death of its owmer. It.was s0ld to a Mi. Samuel Mitchel,
who adapted the plant for use.as 2 candle factory. It came back
into its proper use as a distillery by Méésfs._Sohenck énd
Tutherford. The 0ld windmill (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, Map B,

64 b) ﬁas unused and it remained until about 1825-(Stiles, 1859,
Vol. IT, p.131). In 1824 the distillery was ——
spermaceti Ffactory (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, p.220). Then‘iw
féctory was. later enlarged and converted to usé-as a sugar house
(reported in use as such in 1869) (ibid), This use was short- |
lived however because an event occurred which ﬁuét have delighted
the hearts of the hard drinking pacple of Brooklyn, when the old
Pierrepont factory was shortly after thig changed back to a
distilléry. HoWevef,'the joj must have been:brief3 for the
Distillery, owned by Schenck and Birdsall, was destroyed by fire
in 1831 (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II, 1.237).

The ferry landing at the foot of Jorazlemon Street continued
to fldurish snd was given the name fNew South Ferry" (The
Atlantic Street Ferry was called the "South Ferry"), (Stiles,
1869, Vol.IL, p.24). | ' '

The windmill and the distillery and the shore were favorite
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scenes depicted in early vrints. A view by Hugh Reinagel, dated
1827-34, shows the Fulton Ferry at the left, the beach road on
Fulton Street with the sailing ships and docks, and the windmill
and distilléry at the foot of Jorzlemon Street. The engraving
by R. Kupfer, New York of 1867 shows the Bfooklyn Shore including
Fulton Street and the length of Furman Street. Because of the
outbreak of yeilow fever in Brooklyn, the 01ld Ferry at Fulton
Street was temporarily put out of use, and removed to Joralemoﬁ
Street ir 1809 (Furman, 1865, p.34; Furman, 1874, p. 316).

In 1824 there was a real surge of buildiﬁg actiﬁity éfter
Pierrevont's start, with "vast mounds of earth" vanishing under
the pick and shovel in advance of the pushing through of streets
and avenues (Stiles, Vol;'i, 1884, p.141). The most convenient
dump again would have been the river. Noredver, Pierrepont, as-
an entgrprisinglland:owner, would not havé passed up land f£ill
in the neighborhood of his distillery &gt the.foot of dJoralemon's
lane (street). Pierrepont's (Stiles, 1884, Vol. 1, pp.129-130)
street improvements on the Heights undoubtedly .contributed to
the building of his docks at the foot of Joralemon's land.

The cove.to the south wag filled ir relatively quickly, for by
1858 there appears to have been d4dry land'between Jofalemon
Street and State and Atlantic Streets west of Fu:mén Street

- (not yet laid).



SEWER CUT AND GECLOGICAL PROFITE:

The plan section of Joralemon Btreet west of Furman Street
toward the river is a maze of water mains, gas lines and electric
and teleﬁhone ducts, under whicﬁ af -17.0 féét 1s the outside
top of the I.R.T. LVX1ng*on Avenue Subway tubes. A number of
these facilities are "disused". dJoralemon Street is no stranger
to open cut "surgery" as evidenced on the plan.

The Joralemon Street branch intercepting sewer will be .

12 inches in diameter and about 210 feet long with a downward
'SWOPe to the east from a regulator (R-14) at its western end
joining with a 108-inch intercepting sewer on Furman Street. It
will be 1laid in an open cut measuring 15 feet deep and 5 feet
.wide. At the westerﬁ end of the étreet, the invert elevation of
the . sewer will be 1; 55 feet below "0O" datum, or aboubt seven feet
below the ground surface. At-its eastern end, the séwer will be
9.05 feet belbw "O" datum (the szme as the approximéterground
water elevation) or about 21 feet below the street surface level.
There is a slope of the street surface from east to west;

The borings went dovm to & maximum depth of about 40 feet.
They could not go down to.the fﬁll depthiin the western part -of
the section because of the subwzay tuﬁnel. -

The geological borings (Nos. 84-1, 84F, 83-1, 83 and S 10), -
which were examined in two locatvions by the autﬁor in company
with two New York City geologists Irwin Ostrofsky and Peter Kuuk,
show that with the exception of a small portion of the easternm
~ part 65 the sewer, all of its lsngth will be in fill, and all of
the sewer will be peositioned below "O" datum, or below ground .

water elevation. Indeed, examination of the profile indicates

"
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that at the location of the propose@ sewer, dry land exisfed
easterly of the Joralemon Street—?ufman Street sewer connection.

Exanination of the geologiczl profile shows that there
there are four major soil layers, Layers 2, b, ¢, and d. They are
-described as follows:

Layer a - This is a widespread overburden oif f£ill contéining
sénd, gravel, silt, cinder, wood, and & few sheils asnd brick in
a kind of amorphous mixture according to the geological study. It
is felt however that were more complete samples taken the length
of the street, it would be shown that there éye layers of f£ill,.
There is a westward slope of ths £ill down to the river. At
the western end, the. fill is about four feet above the "O" datum,
and at the eastern end the fill is gbout ten feet above the "OY
datum. More than 70% of the £ill is below the "O" datum, or
ground water elevation. The f£ill has an averagé thickness of
about 22 feet. The bottom limit of the fill is not known in
thé western two-thirds of the profile section because the borings
were stopped on top of the subway tunomel, as noted above.

Layer b - This layer is a lens ftruncated at its westermn
end, composed of fine gray sand and a little organic silt. It
| has-a marked downward slope toward the wést_and measures about
six feet thick. This 1ajer will be éut by the vroposed sewer
line at its eastern end.

Layer ¢ — This layer is a relatively thin lens of peat which
intrudes like a thrust between the overlying Layer b and the under-
lying Layer d. At its thickest, it measures abbut two or three
feet thick. It follows the slope coﬁformity, slanting to the west.

Layer 4 - This is a multiple_layer of four sub-layers of

sand containing varicus materials which form +the constituent
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parts of the sub-layers. The top sub-lens isAcomposed of fine to
coarse brown sand with a trace of some silt, and a trace to little
gravel. This lens lies unconformably above a zore of layered fine
to medium reddish brown sand and silt. This lens has a reﬁerse
slope, angling down steeply to The east. Next comes a wedge of
fine yellow sand and silt, overlying a fine to coarse reddish
brown sand contalining a trace to little gravel and a trace to
little silt. The latter two deposits, like the lens preceding
them, have marked dips or slopes downward to the east. It

should be stated here parenthetically that we cannot be certain of
the true geological dip of these beds, since we do not know what
the strike of the beds is in all of the cases of the geqlogical

profiles discussed here.



RESUME:

]

S0 far as can be ascertained from the geological borings and
the profile section the fill may possibly contain some historical
materials in the mixture. Thers doss not appear to be any original
land surface above sea level or ground water level in the profile
section, which may-indicate.that ihe distillery, windmill and
other structufes built there by Livingston and Pierrépont and
followers were either built on original dry land, or on f£ill.

From all.indications, the buildingsrwererplaced on f£ill, and

the apprpximate position appears to be Jjust to the south and
slightly west of the junctionof Furman and Joraiemon Streets

(Fig. 28). Since the borings wers not recovered in full sequence,
it was requested that an additional supplemental boring.be made
about the position of the suspected location of the Pierrepont
distillery under the supervision of an archaeologist assistant.
S5ince the area is of high historic interest, it appears advisable
to have a qualified archaeologist on hand fo monitor thé ex—

cavation as a part of the second stage of the project.
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ATLANTIC 2VENUL

HISTORY :
Between Atlantic Avenue snd the end of Joralemon Street lay
a deep cove. Atlantic Awenus czmz to the Fast River at the southern

end of Brooklyn Heights and in =ffect was a low easy route to the
river, easier.in grade than the zvproach to the Fultop Street Ferry
from inland. The latter ferry-croséing however, had the advantage
of being shorter to the Manhattzn side. Atlantic Avenue (called
‘District Street originally, and later Atlaﬁtic Street on the 1816
Brooklyn map) (Stiles, 1869, Vol. II) (Fig.1l5) was laid nut in 1829
when a narrow lane was straightsnsd out (Langstaff,-l953, P.22).
It was originally called Patchen's Lane (8Stiles, 1869, Vol. 'II,
p.154), vwhich led down along ths preéent line of Atlantic Avenue
(Street) in 1816. It was first laid out as a public lane with a-
landing place at the end of it on the East River on April 7,
1714. The road was built about tirese rods wide, with the landing
place on the river as about six rods wide (8tiles, Vol.II, p.l54).
Neither the Atlantic Avenue landing (later called the-éouth Ferry,
which was granted in 18%4 (Stilss, Vol.II, p.290), nor the
Joralemon Landing (New South Ferry) were as wide as the Fuiton
Street ferry landing. This probably was because of the earlf
establishment of the butcher industry at Fulton Street, since early
in its history a cattle yard wes established on the south side
of Fulton BStreet, and the central market at the foot of Fulton
Street took up much cof the space..

Armbruster (1919, p.l4) szys that in 1774 Brooklyn was re-

duced to two ferries, cone at ths 0ld Ferry, and the other at Red

=t

1i11s, which was the foot of later Atlantic Street. Once originated,
the ferries did not run all the time. There were times when they
were for some periods discontirusd (Armbruster, 1919, . 10,14).

-55-
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The introduction of the railroad to Atlantic is what made
. this area towardlthe mid@le of the 19th Century, by a kind of
| default. It appears that the village of Brooklyn did not want the
Fulton Ferry area obstructed by the iron horse, and blocked the -
Brooklyn Jamaica Rail Road Company ffom building its ferminus
at the Fulton Ferry. This company had received incorpo:aﬁion in
1832, and réceived a 50 year charter to build & steam railroad
upon the Jamaica branch of the 01ld Ferry Road. After some
litigation, the Brooklyn and Jamaica Rail Road Company was
authorized to use the alternate route to the South Ferry at
AtlantiC'(Dist;ict Street) Avepue in 1837. From there it made
its conmection with downtown New York (Stiles, 1859, Vol. II, pp.
6-7, 248; Armbruster, 1919, p.26). "The com@any became the Long
Isiand Rail RoadkCompany, and as an improvement over its evident
. dirty and noisy passage, a fwmel was built for the railroad in
Atlantic Street, in ﬁhich the corner store was laid on May 24,
1844,.and the %unnel was opened for travel thaf December (Stiles,
1869, Vol. II, p.58, 275). ‘
- No recerd has been found of the fact as yet in the researches,
(Clark, 1916; Anonymous, 1906; Anonymous, 183%%; Anonymous, James
A. Kellyllnstitute, no date) but there is a consensus among |
historians that the fill from the tunnel was simply hauled to the
end of Atlantic.Avenue and dumped into the cover and river, fill-
ing it out to the present lines. The possibility is that the
Corps of Army Engineers may have retained a record of the change
in the shore line, The maps indicate that by 1838, land fill

hed progressed to the poilnt that the cove had vanished.
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fhis street has already been cut up at various times for .
water mains, gas and electric ducts, and sewer pipes. ©Some of
these facilities are now "disused". The depths to which these
various services cut into the street is not known at this wfiting,_
but since the excavation of the proposed sewer will not coincide
with them, this detail is not considered here. The B.M.T. line
is marked as running down the-streét.

The Atlantic Avenue sewer proposed for construction will
be a 12-inch diameter branch intercepting sewer, measuring agbout
270 feet long beginning at a regulator (R-13) at the western end,
and terminating at a 108-inch intercepting sewer (MH 1) at
Columbia Street. It will be laid in an-open cut measuring five
~feet wide and fifteen feet deep. It will slope downward toward
the intercepting sewer. The inverse depth of fthe sewer will be
about ten feet below the ground surface at the westerﬁ'end,‘or
Just at ébout "O" datum elevation; which at this point:is about
one foot above the ground water level. At the western end, the
sewer will be about seven feet below "O" datum, or about 22 feet
below the ground surface. There is a slope of the ground surface

from east to west.



GEOLOGICAT, BORINGS AND PROFILIS:

The seven geological borings (Nos. 90, 87, 88; 91, B85, 92
and 93) on Atlantic Avenue eitend from the western end of Atlantic
Avenué to éaét Furmen Street eastward to~the-corner of Atlanfic A
Avenue and Columbia Street. The borings were examined by the
author in company with Ir. Irwin Ostrofsky, and Mr. Peter Kuuk,
geologists for New York City at a couple of places in the city.

These borings extended down to a depth of about maximum
of 70 feet. With thé excepﬁion of one boring (S-7), all of them
were made at the curbside and sidewalks on either side of A%lantic
Avenue.- The geolpgicalrprqfile running down the center of the
Street (A-A') is an approximation taken from these borings.-

There are five major soil layers which may be distinguished
in the soil profile, namely Layers a, b, ¢, d, and e. They are
- described as follows:

Layer a - This is a widespreqd layer of fill, containing
sand; silt,. gravel, bricks, concrete, wood, asphalt and some shells.
As noted elsewhere, no fine distinction of sub-layer could be
distinguished in the borings. The séwer cut will be made in this
£ill with the exception of the eastern terminus, which presumably
will cut into the iens-of peat at that point (Layer_g); The:
average thickness of the fill is gbout 200 feet. Approximately
half of it lies below the "O" datum elevation, or about the same
below the ground water level. The original ground surface of
the area lzy well below water level in this section.

Layer-b - This is.an interrupted lens of organic silt
penetrated by fill. It extends about haif vay across the geological

profile, and terminates in an attenuation at abeout Boring No. 838,
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juét about the southeast corner of Furman Street and Atlantic .
Avenue. It has a maximum thickness of about eight feet. This
‘1ayer'is superimposed at its western end over Layer 4, and over
Layer ¢ at the eastern-end. | |

TLayer ¢ — This is a layer of peat, which is lensed toward
the west, and sloped upward toward the east. It has a maxiﬁum
thicknesgs of about 12 feet. This lens lies over Zayer 4.

Layer & - This is a variable layer of sand, with gray sand
iﬁ the western part and brown sana in the smaller eastern pari.
There is a lens of fine gray sand and silt in the western part,
which lies above a lens of fine coarse gray sand with a trace
to some gravel and a trace to little silt. The eastern portion
includes fine brown sand, some silt, and a trace to little gravel..

The combined thickness of the sub-lenses is about fifteen feet.
Layer d lies over Layer e in which appears t¢ be an unconformity.

Layér‘g - This is a silty zone composed of three sub-

_lenses of variocus silts, presumably of Pleistocene age. The top
sub-lens is "varved", which would indicate a still water deposition,

possibly at the front of a glacier or in a glacial lake.



RESUIE :

There does not appear fo be any evidence of aboriginal, or
Indian materials which may be encountered in the construction of
the proposed sewer. All of the soil is fili.material, which
extends down to Below ground ﬁater level, confirming the map
study which indicates that the area was part of the cove in the
East River at this point. However, since the street was laid down
in the early age nearly 125 years ago, it ﬁay be advisable to
have a qualified archaeoclogist monitor the éxcavation. This was
an important landing area and it is Jjust possible that some of
the fill may have come from burial areas on top of the heighfs'
above Furman Street where it is known that British soldiers and

saillors were buried.

=



FURMAN STREET

HISTORY :

Furmén Street, names after the Furman family who lived
at the.corner of what is now Furman Street and Fulton Averue in
the early 1800's, did not exist originalily bécause high tide
almost lapped the foot of the sandy heights (Fig. 39).‘ The
road ran along the beach, much of it between hizgh and low
water (Langstaff, 193%, po. 8, 12). The heights above this
shore way, or the "Heights", was originally covered with,
according to Stiles (1884, Vol.II, p.3%5) a beautiful growth of
cedar and lécust trees. It was éalled‘”Iphétonga" or the
"high sandy bank" by the Canarsie Indians. Reﬁortedly a large
number of stone arrowheads and other aboriginal implements were
found in every stage of manufacture in thisrarea after the
washing of the river banks by storms and heavy rains and constant
erosion. This bluff and elevation was named "Clover Hill" by
the early colonial imhabitants (Stiles, op.cit.).

In the early colonial days, the only means of access to
the ferry from alcng the beaéh southwards was via Blizabeth
Street (szid to be named after one ofvthé wives of the early
reisdents of the area) (Stiles, 1884,Vol.II, p.118). From the
ferry to Plerrepont's distillery at the foot of Joralgmon
Street, the stretch was an open sandy beach, along which the
tide flowed end ebbed, and at times it was impassable (Stiles,
ibid, p.131). Furman Street was laid out in 1804 (Anonymous,
Block Records; Section 1, Block 200, Liber 8, p.151), but since
its situation was not usable, it had o be bulkheaded and £illsd

in. . Wharves, warehouses and even residences resulted as if by

e
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magic after this was done, since the street was in a favorable
location with respect to the location between the two ferries,visz.
the northern at the old Ferry (Fulton Street) and the southerly

at Joralemon's Landing (New South Ferry) and later Atlantic

Street (South Ferry). But it was nearly 50 years before the deep
cove in front of the Joralemon property was filled in and Furman
‘Street was extended to join the foot of Atlantic'Streét (Langstaft,
1933, pp; 8,12,16) (Fig.40). The street was straightened out in
1842. | _

An engraving by R. Kupfer, New York, in 1887, shoﬁs the
Brooklyn shore including Fulton and Furman Streets. It shows
much activity and the bui1f~up.nature of Furman Street, which
by then had been bulkheaded and-filled in.‘ One additional
street westward of Furman Street.is shown toward the kast River .

with ships docked along the shore up and down the street. An
| earlier view by Hugh Reinagle, dated 1827-1834, shows sailing
ships and docks along Furman Street and the windmill and
distillery of Pierrepont at the foot of Joralemon Street (Fig.
33, 34). There was a large flat extending up to his distillery
at low water at the foot of Joralemon's 1ané-(Stiles, op.cit. D.
160). Tn 1820 an editorial in the Star said that the street
(Furman Street) between the 014 Ferry and New South Ferry recuired
raising and should be widened and regulated. It would appear
surprising that the newspaper at this early date would have to
comment sbout the neglect of the streets and the danger of fires
because of the proximity of highly flammeble wooden structures
(Stiles, op.cit.pp.197-8), but it should be remembered that the
city by this time was slready well through its second century

and conditions were becoming crowded.
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Today the Heights still Dresents ome of the most impressive
views of the Eaét River, the harbor and downtown New York, with
the Brodklyn-Queens Expressway flarking the river between the
Heights and Furman Sfreet certainly has not added to any of the
old tranquility of the scene. It enters the area from the south
just at Joralemon Street (Fig. 40).

_Exémination,of maps Showing,thé shoreline in the vicinity
of Atlantic and Joralemon Streets pinpoints the period when the
embayment between these two streets was filled in. Iott's 1816
map (Fig. 28) shows that the Pierrepont distillery and its works
hzad extendéd Joralemon Street beyond the Furman Street (planned)
line into the East River. <Hooker's (1827) map of Brooklyn shows
that Furman Street was not yet extended through between Joralempn
Street and District Street-(Atlantic Avenue), but shows a long
pier aﬁd'docking facilities at the end of District Street pointing
like a fiﬁgér into the East River about parallel with the Joralemon
Street extension. Actually, thé dock does not begin exactly at
the end of District Street, but just to the left or south of the
street. There is a straight rozd going down to the shore (which
appears to be surveyor's licenée, because other maps. show a curve
in Joralemon Street approaching the river, where it winds down
between bluffs through a ravine. The windmill plus three other
buildings of rectangular shape are shown at-fhe end of Joralemon
Street, part of Pierrepont's distillery'complex. 4 point on the
landing is indicated where the "Contemplated New South Ferry"
was to be located. The areaz between the District Street dock and
the Joralemon Street extension and dock is shown as part of the
original cove or embayment area. The curving beach,liné comes

to a point Jjust about west of where Willow Street might be if it
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were extended from the Brooklyn Eeights. No facilities -for dock-
ing ships is evident on the map on the beach. Hicks Street is

the first street shown behind the water front. There is indicated
a_high bluff at the southern end of Hicks Btreet, which appears to
be absent today. There is the guestion if this bluff was used as
a borrow pit or "mine” to fill in the cove, or for subsequent
undetermined uses. The map of E. W. Bridges (1850) shows the

gsame features as Hooker's 1827 rap, and there appears to be no
change except that there is an added large building (factory?) and
a smaller one in the building complex at the foot of Joralemon
Street. Joralemon Street isshown as a éurved road, and not
straight as on Hooker's map. IFurman Street at this time hed not
been Joined with Joralemon Street. It is shown as a tentative
light iine superimposed over the original bluffs. The Brooklyn
Director for 1831-2 hass a map showing the cove between Joralemon -
and District Streets, and the same annual publication shows the
same for the year 18%4-5, No maps were found in the later editions

through 1837. However, the Report of the Commissioners on "Streets,

Avenues and Scuares for Breoklyn'", Commission Appointed April 23,

i835, Report Presented January 1, 1839, gives a map of the City of
Brooklyn in 1838 showing some pertinent details concerning the -
land~fill problém. It shows Columbia Streef extended Between
Joralemon Street and Atiantic Street (not Avenue yet at this date,
but changed to this name from District Street), élthough this plan
has not beenrfollowed (Fig. 28). It may be remarked that between
the surveyor's original street plans and the final opsning of
streets slips are known to eccur. In the 1838 map of Brooklyn,
State Street is shownrextended to almost the 1line of the end of

~ Joralemon and Atlantic Streets, and the area between‘these Two
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latter streets is solid, és though it had been filled in. The
seme map shows that Furman Street was not yebt connected through
from Joralemon Street to State Street and Atlantic Street (Avenue).
According to Dikeman (1870, p.73) Furman Street‘ﬁas widened to

50 feet between Joralemon and Atlantic Street on June 10, 1842,

and according to Burt's (1943) annotated list of Brooklyn street
pavings, the street was paved the following year (1843). The map
by Richard Butt (1846) shows Atlantic Street and Joralemon Street
joined by Furman Street, confirming the above data. Atlantic Street
and Joralemon street are extended to the river to about the present
approximate line. The U.S. Bulkhead line is about 400 feet west
of Furman Street here. The land is shown filled in westward of
Furman Street, but not completely so since State Street is in-
dicated as a long pier paralleling Atlantic Street,lwhich is_also'
shown as a long piler extending into the o0ld cove of the East
River. On the other hand, the map by C.S. Herbert and BR. Talford
(1855) shows Furman Street laid out in light tentative lines
between the two streets, whereas Columbia Street is shown in dark
outlire behind or to the east of the old cove area. Furman Street
is actually shown as & light line between Pierrepont and Atlantic
Streets, as though it were not yet constructed but only planned.
This may be a draughtman's error. There is shown a bluff along
Furman.Street between these two points, and the sfreet is super-
imposed over the bluffs. Joralemon, State, Columblia and Atlantic
Streets are shown in heaﬁy dark outlines. The literary evidence
appears to indicate that the cove was finally closed just prior

to 1838. It is possible that the land-fill was derived both

from the bluffs behind, straightening of the streets, etc., and

perhaps the customary manner by bulkheading and then scooping up
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£111 from the river bottom (as had been done at the Atlantic
Docks in south Brooklyn). | |

No documentation showing suthorigzation, payment, etc for
this land fill has been found to this date, therefore, we have to
resort to inferential data. The rezal eétate development of the
Brooklyn Helgnts aréa from @bout the 1820's necessitated much
grading and leveling, and 1t is presuﬁed that some of the soil
found its way to the river as a convenient dump. The straighten-
ing out of Joralemon Street from its original curved way down the
ravine-to thé ?iver probably yielded a good portion of the 1and
fi1l., It;is very likely that much of thelland fill came from
another source, namely the construction of the Long Island Rail-
road on Atlantic Averue. The tunnel for the railroad which was
pushed through in 1844, probably added some spoil to the fill
area, but it is not certain at this writing how much, if true.
Certainly the river would have beesn a‘convenient disposal place,

if allowed by the authorities.



SEWER TUNNEL AND THE GEOLOGIC PROFILE:

According to our best information from early map surveys
(Perris, 1855) (Fig. 28), the proposed 108 inch sewer tunnel
between Ltlantic Avenue and Jorzlemen Street in Furmaﬁ.Street will
g0 through land fill which was placed there about the late 1830's
when Furman Streeft was extended soutﬂwéfa in §rder to join
Atlantic Avenue in a straight line with Furman Street farther
north (Fig. 40). The original shoreline made an eastward or
landward curve from the East River just about Joralemon Street
where there had 5een originally a’disﬁilléry, windmill ard a
landing in the late colonial days. The shoreline curved to a
point between Columbia Place and Willow Place, then curved back
to the river 0 a point just a few yards west of the Junction
of -Atlanbtic Avenue and Columbia Street. The embayment so formed
was a deep water cover, highly regarded as an anchorage 1in
Colonial days;

The real estate development of the Brookiyn Heights area

from ebout the 1820's necessitated much grading and leveling, and

fa-

t is presumed that some of the soil foundlits-way to the river

as a convenisnt dump.” However, it is very likely that the land
fill in cuantity came from ancother sourcé, that of the con- v
struction of the Long Island Rail Road,::wihlch was:pushed: -
through at Atlantic Avenue. - We are reminded (personal commun-
ications from Prof. Arthur XKonop, St. Francis College) that the
southern extension of Governor's Islard was bullt up eﬁtirely

from the f£ill of the New York Subway system (the I.R.T.) in the
early 1900's. 1f our presumption is-correct (no verification of
this has been located at this dzte), the £ill in the cove between ‘

Atlsntic Avenue and Joralemon Strest in_all likelihood does not

—£8—
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contain materials of archaeological interest.

This section of the proposed tunnel will be 800 feet long

and 1C8 inches in diameter, running between Atlantic Avenue on
the south and Joralemon Street on the north (Fig. 40). The
bzge or invert of the tunnel bore will be about 13 feet bélow the
sround water tazble, and thé top of the tunnel will be about 10
feet abové the invert, or about three feet below the ground water
table. The top of the turnel will be between 14 to 18 féet below
the present ground surface level. The tunnel section will lie
west of the "Ancient Water Line" (Perris, 18555 (Fig. 28) Arv
in the old cove area.

- An exemination of the geologic profile shéws that There
are five major soil horizons thch will be encountered by the
tunnel- construction. These soil horizons, identified in the
accompanying geological sesction are lettered arto e, as determined
by core borings along the street. These core borings are identified
as Nos. 92, 89, 88, 5-9, 87, 86, 85, 5-10 and S5-13. Theyrwere
exsmined by Dr. R. Solecki in company with Mr. Irviné Ostrofsky
and Peter Kuuk, geologist with the Department of Public Works,
New York City at storage points in a Coney lsland sewage treat-
ment plant and -in the basement of the Maﬁhattan Municipal Court--
house. |

The general impression of the section is that below a blanket

of £i1l thickness (Layer a), there is a thickness of soil material
(Layers b, c, d) measuring about 15 feet and attenuated at the
north ernd (toward Joralemon Street), overlying a widespread soil

SRR T
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deposit. The latter must be of Pleistocene Age, and related to
the last Wisconsin glaciation in this region (presumably‘ﬁart of
the ground moraine). There is a definite slope of the middle
deposits (Layers b, ¢, g) from north to south in this Sectibn.

The descriptions of the soil horizons are as follows:

Layer a - This is_the‘wideSpread £ill, containing sana,
gravel, silt, clay,cinders, brick, timber, plaster, concrete
etc. In the section of concern, it has a maximum thickness of
26 feet (toward the Atlantic Avenue or southern end) a minimum
thickness of 13 feet (toward Joralemon Street or northern end).
with an average of 15 feet thickmess. It follows the original
ﬁpward slope towards Joralemon Sireet following the presumed
original beach line. Better than half of this;fill zone lies
gbove the grdund water table.

Layer b — This ig a lensg of'sand with organié gilt
penetrated-by fiil, contéining loose finé tb coérse gray.sand,
some organic silt, trace to litile gravel, trace qf:bricks, Trace
of cinders, trace of shells etec. It was probably paftrof the
original cove bottqm and beach {(at the northerr end which stéod
there in colonial times until Furman Street was extended south-~
ward to join Atlantic Avenue. The maximum thickness of this lens
is 9 feet, with an average thickness of about 5 feet. It dis-
appears at Atlantic Avenus. As noted above, in the section
under investigation, this so0il horizon slopes down to the south
toward Atlantic Avenue from Joralemon Street. AL the latter
end, Layer b rises above ground water level, otherwise it is all
under this elevation.

Layer ¢ - This is a lens of peat which haé been intruded

in the middle by Layer b. It has a maximum thickness of 10
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feet with an average thickness of 5 feet. It diminishes to O
feet thickness toward Joralemon Street, and increases in
dimensions south toward Atlantic Avenue. It is composed of
peat with little to some organic silt.

bager d — This is a lems of silty sand composed of compact
to very compact fine to coarse gray brown sand, little to some
silt, and a trace to little gravel. It is attenuated iﬁ the
northern section just short of Joralemon Street. It has a
maximum.thickness of 10 feet with an. average of 6 feet in thick-
ness. _ ‘ _

. Layer e ~ This is a soil horizon of layered silt, con-
faining stiff layered brown silt, iittle to some fine and little
to some clay. It intrudes into the "till" horizon which is
widespread at this lower dépth. Layer e occurs between 26 feet‘
and 14 feet below the ground water table. ' There is a marked or
abrupt downward slope of this depbsit_from the area of Joralemon

Street southward toward Atlantic Avenus.



RESUME:

. 50 far as can be ascertained from the borings and section,
the proposed tunnel between Atlantic Avenue and-Joraiemon Street
will encounter no prehistoric or historic materials. There are
traces of timbers in the Layer 2 which may have originated from
£ill., These timbers, or wood, vrobably came from rip-rap, or
the custom of throwing down into shore fronts a héterogenous
mixture of rocks, timbers, etc. to hold down the £fill and té
aid in the congelidation of the water frontage. Map study reveals
that there were no docking facilities between Joralemon Street
and Atlantic Street in the early days, and when the area was
filled ca. 1837, the fill went right up close to the preseﬁt
line; so far as can be determined from the maps.' This would

. have taken it well to the west of Furman Street. The surface
had been certainly cut into a number of times in crder to accom-
odate utilities, etec. but this would have been well above the

- proposed sewer tunnel.

.



STREET PAVINGS:

The following irformation on street pavings of this area
is derived from the records at 40 Worth Street, VWew York City.
The earliest record is a cryptic notation dated 1843 in Burt's
(1843) hand.

The earliest notation of a pavement on Furman Street is
noted -for dJune 24, 1843, in which the street wés graﬁed-and paved
from State Street to Atlantic Avenue. This presumably would in-~
dicaté-thét Furman 8%treet was oven to vehicular traffic between
these two points. |

The card index file (93/9) in the Department of High-
wajs records shown that Furman Street from Atlantic Avenue to
Falton Street.had-ité granite cobble stone.?avement.replaced,
with the job coﬁpletedlAugust 6, 1905. Old granite blocks were
ﬁsed,.vhich were placed on a 6-inch foundation of concrete.
Agein, Furman Street between Fulton and State had its granite
pazvement replaced on & inches of concrete foundation; the Jjob
was completed August 13, 1923. The railroad on this street was
declared abandoned by the "B C R R Co." (Brooklyn City Railroad
Co.) on November 8, i922, winich was apprbved by the Transit
Commission on February 20, 1923. 'The original contract had been
moﬁified in that new granite paving blocks were called for. The
granite pavenment appears to have been continued southward on

Furman Street between Btate and Atlantic Avenue and granite

k
and 5-1/2 inches of new concrete foundation, with the completion
of the Job on December 14, 1923. The width of the roadway was

set at %2 feet (List of Paved Streets, 1960, p.158). This pavement

_75_.
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Job did not last tob long because the cobblestones were evidently
removed and sheet asphslt was lsid down between Fulton and
Joralemon Streets on 6 inches of 0ld concrete foundation. . The

Job was done under the old Works Progress Administration (WPA), with
the date of completion on July 19, 193%37. The width of the road-

way was nmade to 34 feet wide (Anonymous, 1960, p. 1585.

The cross streets of Atlantic Avenue and Joralemon Street
of course did not escape improvement and surfaéing. According to
" Dikeman (1870, pp. 20, 61) Atlantic Street was improved and
corrected to a width of 100 feet from the East River to Fulton
Street and the land was opened TFor use on April 23, 1835. The
record shows that Atlantic Avenue was repaved between the Bast
River and Henry Street on December 14, 1870. Again Atlantic Avenue
between the East River and Clinton Street (outside the rails) was
paved with granite blocks of Grade No. 1 on six inches of 0ld con-
crete foundation. The width of the roadway, in contrast to the
much narrower Furman Street (presumably because of the ferry
service at Atlantic Avenue) measured between 60 to 63 feet wide.

The job was completed on September 24, 1928 (Anonymous, 1960, p.1l).

Neighbofing Joralemon Street was graded and paved between
the river and Henry Street on September 25, 184%, a very early
date (according to the record, the first gradings and pavings on
Joralemon Street took place in 1853 between Henry Street and
Fulton Street). Joralemon Strest between the East River and Hicks
Street was paved with granite blocks of class A on a six-inch
concrete foundation laid on 1903. The width of the roadway was
set at 30 feat. The job was completed on December 2, 1937 -

(inonymous, 1960, p.215).



MATN AWD PLYMCUTH STREETS

HISTCRY :

The area just to the nortﬁ of 0ld Fulton Streset (now
called Cadman Plaza West) is shown on the o0ld early colonial
maps as part of the John Rapalye proﬁerty fronting on the kast
River.. It was occupied by a family of Indians called the
Mareykawicks (Bolton, 1920, p.271), a branch of the Canarsie
Indians, who controlled much of the western Long Island.. The
Mareykawick family was ruled over by a sachem called
Maganwetinnenim in 1645. The Canarsies sold Mareykawick
to the Dutch in 1670 (Bolton, ibid., p.274). This shorelaﬁd
(Fig. 41) was used by the Indians for fishing and oystering up
to Blackwell's Island. Physical evidence of Indizn occupation
vas found and noted by Gabriel Furman in 1826 (Gabriel Furman,
1865, p-%4) (Furman, 1874, pp.98-100) at Bridge Street betueen
Pront and York and betwesn Jay and Bridge Streets (Fig. 42).

At this place were found ashes, cinders, some burned stones and
hagitation evidence, including fragments of pottery vessels,

some arrowheads, and clay tobacco pipes. This material was found
- in situ (down to a depth of 3 to 4 feet) on the top of a hill
about 70 feet high which is shown in Lt. Ratzer's map of 17656
(Boifon, 1922, pp. 13%,4). Stiles (1869, Vol.II, »p.24-5)
writes in the past fénse gbout a high hill near present Bridge
Street, which must have been the same hill. He remarks zbout a
"large establishment' which was called Mount Prospesct TPavern,
which was a favorite night spot for New York "rowdies”, who ussed
to row over to Brooklyn with their girls to disport on the Mount,

and held high "full swing" thers. The hey-day of this dance
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pavilion appears to have been in.the 1820's. One must assume
that the frolics were either not so bad, or the menfolk held_their
liguor very well, or they slept it off somewhere in Brooklyn,
because a return trip to New York by rowboat on the FEast River
needed a modicum of sobriety. Thae révelers, s pon—residenté,
could not be checked by village constables, and naturally had no
fear of the New York authorities.” The spot where the hill stood
is unrecognizable today bescause ail of the lard has been quite
leveled, althoﬁgh there is a perceptible rise in the vicinity of
Bridge and. Jay Strests at ¥ork Street. The fate of the hill is
unknown, but it is possible that it contributed to the landfill
on the East River, filling in behind the bulkheads in the vicinity
of Plymouth and Water Streets. | |

The lands of Joan Rapalye, lying between the.Fulton Ferry
and Wallabout ' Bay was confiscated by fhe City Corporation and
was sold to the Sands Brothers in 1784 (Armbrﬁster, 1919, p.24).
These brotaers with the later addition of new partner, Jackson,
laid out the iand in streets in 1738, and named the place "Olympia”,
with the belief that this was going to become the "éoming city on
account of its supefior situation” (ivid.), (Stiles, 1884,~V01. I,
. Pp-102-3). The owners, Messrs. Semde and Jackson, c¢laimed that
"Olympia is extrenmely well calculated for a city; on a point of
land which presents its front uwo the East River, surrounded
almost with water, the conveniences are almost manifest. A
considerable country in the rear affords the easy attainment of
produce. A pure and saludrious, atmosphere, excellent spring
water, and good society, are among a2 host of other desirable
advantages. As regards health in particular, it is situated on
the natural soll - no noxious vapors, generated by exhalafions,

from dock-logs, wabter and filth sunk a century under its found-
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ations, are raised here". The authors of this tract would never
recognize the area today. In the same descriptibn is the suggestion
that a bridge be built from Olympia across to New York, and the
Wallabout would form an excellent Navy'yard (Stiles, ibid, p.103).

It is certain that a number‘of'buildings in old "Olympia"
had to ﬁe removed in order to build the Brooklyn Bridge, and
certain other land gredings had to be effected in the bridge
construction. VWhat bscame of this rubble and earth had not been
found in the literature‘ét this writing, but it can be assumed
that some of it (like the Indian Hill noted above) at lsast found
its way as landfill in the East River, notably at the foot of
Main'and Dock Streets} or the river side of fthe Empire Stores. It_
does not appear likely that any lendfill was.placed at the foot
of Fulton Street, because this waterfront had its own supply of
ready debris from demolished buildings on Fulton Street, ete.

A pérmit was given to William Furman and Theodosius Hunt
(Furman and Furman, 1937, p.7) to establish a ferry at the foot
of present Main Street, which met the 01ld Ferry Road at'thé point
where the latter makes a sharp curve, so that the new fefry road
formed almost a straight line.. .This landing place became known
as the "New Perry". Since the landing point in Manhattan was at
Catherine Street, it became later known as the "Catherine Street
Ferry". The road to the ferry was originally known as the "New
Ferry Road"; which later became changed %o lMain Street (not to
be confused with 0ld Ferry Road or Fulton Street, which had been
also cazlled Main Road). The New Ferry, or Catherine Street Ferry
was also called at one time "Tezmboat Ferry (Armbruster? 1919,
p.25). The Catherine Street Ferry or "Teamboat" Ferry was

originally powered by human muscle until 1810 (as were all of
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the ferries at this time) for rowboats or pirougues. The horse
boat (which gave the name to the New Ferry) was first introduced
in 1814 on the Catherine Street Ferry (Booth, 1859, p.686).
This ferry was powered by a team of eight horses, or 8 horsepower,
in which the crossing of the river was made in between 12 to 20
minutes, a vast improvement over the former method. . The iron
age competitor, steam, came the same year in the form of the steam-
boat, the Nassau, at the neighboring older ferry at present
Fulton Street (Booth, ibid.). The compeﬁition must have become
highly unequal. |

According to Stiles (1884, Vol.II, p.105) there were a few
small wooden dwellings on Main Street in the 1820's znd with the
exception of one domicile, there were no other houses of note on
the west side of Main Stréet up to the junction of Fulton and
Main Streets. " On the east side of !Main Street, there were
'similarly-few buildings. Activity was rarked in this period
by frequent Qﬁaﬂgesi_ But up to abvout 18240, all streets in Brooklyn
were gimply dirt paved. The City Corporatioﬁ began tearing down
0ld structures between Pearl and Water Streets on the north side
of Dover Street (Furman, 1865, p.lSé). it is reasonable to |
assume that the broken up structures (if of brick) found their
way to low lying areas as larnd f£ill. ZLand éround the shore
front was being filled in steadily. The area -of Water Street
between Main.and Washington Sfreets was raised and "regulated"
in 1824 (Stiles, 1884, Vol.IT,p.220). At the foot of Catherine
Street Ferry was established a small public market, called
"Titus's" market, which was in reslity a butcher stand, something -
like the one at the 0ld Fulton Ferry. There was other evidence

of a small . shopping center, as would naturally arise at =a
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communication center. There was a tavern and grocery at the
northeast corner of Main and Water Streets called VanWinkles
(Stiles, 1884, Vol.IT, ».94).

Lower Main-Street lay between high and low water tide
marks (Fig. 41). The o0ld water line went to the corner of the
present Gold Street, and from there, along the line of present
Marshall Street to the Wallabout Bay or the Navy Yard (Stiles,
1884, Vol. II, Footnote 1). The construction of gravel sidewalks
with curbstones was ordered for the New Ferry (Catherine Street
ferry) in 1813 (Stiles, 1884, Vol. II, p.31). The records show
a low water mark of the Hast River arching just north of Water
.Street in 1846 (Section 1, Block 25, Liber 154, p. 100 to
grantee Andre B. Hoxtun, October 14, 1846). Similarly in another
record (Section 1, Block 26, Liber 118, page 52) the land was
under ﬁater on March 28, 1844, Another fecord datéd Janmuary
1, 1848, the same water line is indicated just a little north
and parallelling Water Street. Plymouth Street was under water
in this.record, but there is an indication of Wwhere the bulkhead
line was planned north of Plymouth Street as of 1835. This bulk-
Head line was established under the direction of é General Swift
.who recommended a line of bulkheads along the Bast Riverlin 1835
(8Btiles, 1884; Vol;II, p.252). Mention is made of the avarice
and cupidity of the citizens who were shore front owners and who
hastened to extend their lots into the water, doing '"some injury
to the water line", (ibid.).

The first negative impact on the area was the construction
of the Brooklyn Bridzge in the third guarter of the 19th century.
The bridge apprcach neceszssitated a lot of room for 1its long

approach on the Brooklyn side, cutting a bifurcating swath
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~ through 014 Brooklyn, eliminating blocks of old residences and
tenements, shabby stores, saloons {(which if they were in the same
numbers as on lower Fulton Street, must have been numeTrous )

and similar structures (McCollough, 1972, p:418). At leést some
of the resultant debris must have gone toward land fill along

the fiver. Presently oid{”Olympia” presents a forlern aspect of
warehouses and dreary battered business structures. Its demise
as a residentiel and business area can be directly attributed

to the erosion of the neighborhood precipitated first by the
Brooklyn Bridge, and later by the Manhattan Bridge, which flank
tﬁis area on the south and north respectively. The latest and
final sealing off of this "cul-de-sac" isolation was siénaled by
the construction of the maze of roadways and concrete servicing
the‘Brooklyn—Queens Expressway twenty years ago. The bridge

was opened in 1883, and in Jjust two years; the bridge trains were
handling upwards of twenty million passengers, and juét five years
later in 1888, there wefe thirty million passengers a year
(McCollough, 1972, p.S544). The ferries continued to run (the
last of the Brocklym Ferries, the Hamilton-Battery Ferry ran
until 1942), bﬁt dwindled away inbo the twentieth century. As

a consequence, both the Catherine Strset and Fulton Ferries ceased:
to exist, and so died the neighborhocd.

Part of This ares was proovosed for degsignation as an
Historic District by the Landmarks Preservation Commission at a
meeting held at 10:30 A1, at City Hall, New York, on lMarch 8,
1977 (Figa. 43a, 43p). The only opposition appeared to come from
the owners of the structure known as the Fmpire Stores, locatsd on
Water Street, west of Main Street. The residents of the Fulton

Street ferry district nave proposed their idealized plan for use
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of the arsa (Fig. 44). The Empire Stores and 85 Water Street

are indicated on the Historic Sites Register (Rosan et al., 1972).
The former building was built ih stages; a four story section in
1869, 1874; and a five story section in 1885 (Roverts, 973). Rennie
(1974) hes a comprehensive report on the Empire Stores with the
proposal that use be made of ths building as a maritime museum.

The Landmarks Preservation Commission appeared:to favor the pre-
servation of this building at their meeting on March Bth; con—
trery to the advice of the owmers, Consolidated Edison, who
apparently wished it demolished.

The Rennie (1974) report, which appears to have been widely
circulated, gives an unflattering description of the Manhattan
Bridge-BrooXlyn Bridge head srez on the Brooklyn side.. Accord~
ing %o thié report, the area is part of a 50 acre backwater in
Brooklyn, that has beenrstudied for over a decade by a number
“of city agencies in the unlikely hope of discoveriﬁg some kind of
new use to whick this bleak section .could be put. The report
once zgain indicates that the coming of the Brooklyn Bridge was
the beginning of the end for the lower fulton Ferry district,'

a condition exacerbated by the operning-cf the‘Manhattan Bridge

in 190?. The report points out that the-new surge of residential
development in Brooklyn Heights (always a desirable area to live
in) and other areas in Brooklyn lsft this waterfront district a
dying commercial and industrial area. One of the reasons(aside -
from inaccessibility, etc.) this arsa is undesirablé for resi—
dential occupation is the noise level, which by H.U.D. starndards
is "normally unacceptable". It is 68-80 dBA at Plymouth and
Washington Streets (Rennié, 1974, p.22). fﬁe author however,

found the area among the canyon-like walls of the factories, etc.
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relatively cuiet compared To the area around Boro Hell in Brooklym.



SEWER. TUNNEL AND THE GEOLOGIC PECFILE:

|3

The proposed sewer ftunnel in Main and Plymouth Streets
will lie in the area formeriy part of the Eést River (see Fig.
41). According to the Perris mzp of 1855 (Fig. 28) the "Ancient
Water Lina" (presumably fhe high water line) cut to the 5outh
of Water Street, or to the south of the propoéed tunnel roufe.
The early colonial records indicate that the low water mark
cuts roughly between and parallel to Water and Plymouth Streets.
This area is in the low lying land facing the Eﬁst River between
the Brooklyn Bridge on the west and the Manhattan Bridge on
the east (which actually straddles the proposed tunnel route) to
_the.north of fhe-Brooklyn—Queens Expressway'bfidge approachés. -
The tunnel bore having a diameter of 108 iﬁches, is prbposed to
exténd from south of Howard Alley on Ilain Street northward to the
" Junction of Main Street and Plymouth Street, and thencé eastward
on Plymouth Street continuing psst Pearl Street. Under the bulk-
hezad plan of 1835, the lands were filled in and msde availsble
fof use a few years later. According to the records about the
end of the 18th century, the high tides of the East River some-
times came close to Front Street, or up to the low bluff formerly
facing on the East River at that point.

The propdsed tunnel which will be abouv 1,150.feet ioﬁg
in the.section under study, will have an invert about 19-20
feet Below ground water table. The approximate top of the sewer
tunnel will be gbout ten feet above tThe invert, cor about 9-10
feet below %the ground water table. This will be about 15 to 20
feet below the ground. The sewer is planmed to be included

within the present street limits.
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In the lirne of the presently proposed tunnel there were
ten subsurface borings, which Dr. Solecki examined in company
with geologists Irving Ostrofsky and Peter Kuuk of the New York
City Devartment of Public Vorks at their storage area at a
sewage treatment plant on Coney Island. These are borings
numbered 36 and 35, located on Main Street between Front Street
and Water Street; borings 34 and 33 located between Water Street
and Plymouth Street on Main Struet;'boringé'Bl and.BO located
on Plymouth Street between Main Street and Washington Street;
borings 26 and N-1 located on Plymouth Stréet between Washington
and Adams Streets; and borings 16 and N-12 between Adams and
Pearl Streets on Plymouth Street. _ o

According to-the'geological profile (¥ig. 42) along the
routs of the proposed sewer tunnsl, there is a downward slope of
the soll deposits toward the Hast River from the southerly end of
‘Main Street from Howard Alley (boring No. %6) to Plymouth Street
(voring No. 31). This would indicate 2 natural dip in the
stratigraphy toward the river.

The borings on this street line indicate tﬁét there ;fe
at ‘least Tour major soil deposits in the history of this shore
areé, respectively identified in this report as a to d, from
top to bottom (see Fig.t2). The descriptions are as follows:
Layer a —-A widespread blarket of recent fill, including
sand, gra&el, silt, clay, cinders, brick, concrete, boulders,
timber, ete. It has an average Ehickness of about 11 feet,
ranging from ¥ feet to 16 feet thick. It lies at aboutb an
eleva%ion of about 11 feet above the ground water table in the

southern or landward side to 9 feet below ground water level.

Layer b - This is a deposit of organic silt penetrated by



fill. This appears to have been the original land surface
dating from the originsl settler times. This soil horizon in-.
cludes three lenses of related soils. It is nominally a very
soft to soft, gray‘organic silt, with a trace to some clay, a
trace to little sand, and a trace of gravel aﬁd a trace of cinders.
1t has an average thickness of 6 feet ranging from two feeb
thick to 14 feet - thick. This s0il horizon overlies a layetr of
"$1i11" from the landward side, presumably of glacial age
(Wisconsin). .It has a slope engle of about 2.5% toward the
river. -Most of layer b lies wsll éelow the grourd water table;
beginning above ground water table (or aboﬁt plus 5 feet) at

a poinf Just a2 little north of Howard Alley on Main,Sffeet, and'
slopes downward to the north toward the East River. This layer
intrudes into the next layer bslow it, layer ¢, which slopes
similariy ddwnward to the East River. It isg made up of a number
of isolated lenses and pockets of soil, giving the layer an
undulating characheristic. This layer lies well below the
ground water table.

| Layer ¢ — This is a river sloping thickness bf gigcial
till, inciuding compact to very compact compesition of fine

to coarse brown sand, a trace to some silt, and a trace %o
littie gravel. DPossible bouldars are included in the deposit.
This layer has a thickness of 2bout five feet, to an uncertain
depth not plumbed by the present borings in this section. It
iies well below the ground water tzble. This layer has several
intrusive soil pockets and lenses.

Lgyver 4 - This is the bottommost soil horizon in this

section, which is composed of sand ranging from compact to very

compact, with madium to fine gray brown to brown sand with a
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trace to little silt presenit. The deposit in this portion of

the section is mnearly horizonwtzl in bedding. There is a trace
of shells and some mica in the deposit. It lies about 25 feet
bslow the ground water tables znd its total deptk has not been
plumbad by the present borings.

The profile section from Main to Pearl Streets on Plymouth
indicates a shallow dovmward slops from the east to the west, or
from Pearl Sfreet to Main Strest, which in fact appears to con—
form with the old shore line at this point.- The thickness and

depths‘of the deposits appear to be about the szme as the
dimensions for the deposits between Howard Alley and Plymouth

Street on Main Sfreet.



RESUME:

The proposed tuﬁnel section described above will penetrate
only a very small part df the fill zone, or.layer.g in this re-~
port. it will cut through soil horizon b, presumably the
original ground surface, all below the coriginal sea level of the
Eaét Ri%er.- ThusAit does not appear fhat the cutting of %his
tunnel will have any adverse effect on the historic or prehistoric
heritage in the areas examined.

Although there are traces of'timbers.in‘some of the
borings, these probably did nect originate.from the o0ld piers and
docks, whigh were presumably set out in deeper water, with the
'attendant bulkheading. .

The street subsurface was certainly gouged out a number
of times in order to accomodate water, sewage, gas and electric
lines._ However these cuts are well above the line of the pro-

posed sewer tunnel.
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STREET PAVINGS:.

The following information is derived from two different
publications called "Iist of Paved Streets in the Borough of
Brooklyn", one annotated by Burt (1843%), and the other Anpnymbus-‘
(1960), found in the Department of Highways, 40 Worth Street, New
York City. The earliest pavings in the area at Plymouth and Main
Streets near Water Street date from 1842, which is about the
earliest pavings anywhere in Brooklyn.

The record shows that Plymouth Street between Main Street
and Hudson Avenue was paved on January 26, 1845, presumsbly as
customary with cobble.sﬁones. There is no.other record evident
for Plymouth Street in these envifons Tor over-607years wnen Plymoufh
Stréet between Main and Bridge Streets qu_pavedrwith granite
blocks, grade 2 on 6 inches of concrete base teo a width of 20.
feet and finished on August 24, 1908 (Anonymous, 1950, p.275).

Main Btreet, as befitting its name, was given priority
aftention on.Septeﬁber 18, 1842, when its surface was graded and
paved between Water and Prospect Streets. This was about as early
as the first pavings elsewhere in Brooklyn. The stretch betwesn
Plymouth and Water Btreets was repaved on May 29, 1871. The
street was next given attention in two different stretches in
1817, when a contract was complsted on August 8, 1917 in which
granite paving was put on a o-inch concrete foundation bhetween
Plymouth and Front Streets on Main Street (Anonymous, n.d.,

Card 209/12). Main Street between Plymouth and Vater Strects
was laid with grénite blecks, grade 1, on a &-inch concrete
fbundation to a_width of 60 feet with a job completion on July

2%, 1917. Finally, Main Street between Water and Prospect

~88_
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Streets was paved with granite blocks, Class B on & inches of
‘concrete foundation, wnich was laid to a width of 24 feet with

a job completion on October 15, 19%2. There were tracké on this
street'whiéh'were'to Be removed by the railroad company (Anonymous,
n.d., Card 3/5). Ulain Street between Front Street and Plymouth
still retains its'cobble stones, in part resurfaced patchily with
asphalt. Plymouth Street betweer Main Street and Pearl Street ‘
is practically bare cobble stones, punctuated toward Main Street -

by railroad tracks.



CONCLUSIONS:

The conclusions are that this is one of the most important
parts of old historic Brooklyn, and the opening of the sewer in
open cuts in this part of the city is one of the best opportunities
presented for archaeological investigation known at present in '
New York City.

The section around the Fulton Ferry district (Fig.2),
which is already registered in the National Historic Register,
has been ﬁade the object of a propoéal to make it a landmark
(Fig. 43 a.b.). The lécal residents of the area have drawn up
an ambitious plan for the revitalization of the area as a
touristic spot (Fig.44), in which certain key buildings will be
emphasized. The proximity of the Fulton Ferry district to the
South Street Seaport Museum and the Brooklyn Navy Yard points up
its potential use for educational, cultural and recreational
purposes.

A new restaurant and a ferry boat_landing has been planned
and is (at least the restaurant) being constructed at the water's
edge (Fig. 45). The historic buildings in the area give the old
Brooklyn flavor to the area (Fig. 46). The area w0u1d~be reathed
by the proposed ferry (Fig.47).

The location of fhe gite of the old Corporation House on
Fulton Street next door to the old Long Island Safety Box Company
building is another poténtiél tourist attraction.

The proposed sewer cut in Fulton Street will roughly bifurcate
the lower part of the street at the Furman;Water Street end.

Extending ‘eastward up Fulton Street, it is planned to go close
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to the curb side of the northern side of the street toward-Front

Street. The lower part of the sewer will cut, if our estimations

and maﬁ study is correct, . through the area where the old Fly

Market had stood and was finally demolished in the early 1800's.

Since it was reportedly a decrepit wooden structure, there

probably is nothing much left to mark its former existence. It

appears from the observations of the archaeological assistant,

Mr. Thomas McGovern, who collected the soil samples from the

supplementafy borings made on the project, that the most inter-

esting cultural material comes from a couple.of soil. lenses at the

bottom of the fill material as detailed in the geological profile

for Furman Street. These zones, called Layers b and ¢ are marked

by numerous shell inclusions. It is possible fhat the soldiers

of George Washington's retreating army may have dumped their

surplus army and personal equipment into the river at Fulton

Ferry when embarking for Manhattan in the strategic retreat of

1776. This action would have beeﬁ a preventative one in order

that the goods did not fall into the hands of the British. This

is a presumption on the author's part, since there seems to be

no record of this in the publications examined. - There is no

record of "scorched earth" policy, as the Russians had followed

in their initial retreat in World War II, to the author's knowledge.
The sequence of fill appears to have gone in two major stages

at the foot of Fulton Street. The first was a gradual accretional

type of landfill, indications of which are shown in fhe ca. 1750

~views of the ferry. This presumably extended the area of the ferry

landiﬁg beyond the 0ld shoreline at Everitt Street. The second

land filling seems to have been a more intensive one somewhere

gbout the period 181% through the 1830's, when streets were cut
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through on the Heighfs, hillocks taken down, buildings demolished
to straighten out Fulton Street and neighboring stréets. =
Following the establishment of the U.S. Bulkhead 1ih§ about 1835
in this part of Brooklyn; land was stabilized, and if is pre-
sumed that the bricks and solid‘materials of the buildings, plus
other scrap timber etc. were all tossed into the river to build
up the new shoreline.

The documentary investigations and the supplementary boring
No. A 12 turned up something most interesting on the north side
of Fulton Street toward Front Street. It will be recalled that
this was the location where the 0ld Corporation House stood, and
according to Stiles (1884) (Figs. 16,17), the house was located
where lot numbers 19, 21 and 23 are today. Lot No. 19 is
occupied by a low building, the Waxman Building. Lot Nos. 21
and 23 are comprised of a dirt parking lot,now disused, and
behind a high grill fence. Investigations with the boring equip-
ment resulted in the recovery of bricks and other building
debris at about a depth of eight feet, which coincides very well
with the elevation on the geological profile and the estimation
of where the Corporation House ought to be. In. the Judgement of
the boring technicians, there was a building line just a couple
feet to the morth of the bore hole, which may be the southern
limit of the o0ld Corporation House. We would not know this for
a positive fact until some kind of excavation were made there.
It lies, so far as can be judged from the evidence, just north
and outside the proposed sewer cut in this area and thus will
not be affected by the operations.

Joralemon Street - The investigations in the Joraiémon

Street area indicate that there was a lot of f£ill dumped into this
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district, presumably part of the landfill placed there by
Pierrepont around the turn of the 19th century (Fig. 15). The
eastern portion of the proposed sewer cut appears.to cut Just
into the original soil above ground water ievel, and there are
indications of a possible building zone in this portion of the
geological profile at a depth of about ten feet. This has been
confirmed by the supplementary boring A9,

Atlantic Avenue - The investigations in the Atlantic Avenue

area show that the proposed open sewer cﬁt will go through a
zone of fill, not touching the original above ground water sur-
face level at any point. Documentary evidence indicates that
filling in and the building of a dock at the end of Atlantic
Avenue was well underway in the beginning of the 19th century.
South Perry, which was established at the end of Atlantic
~Avenue, functioned as sometimes (as during the Yellow Fever
epidemic) the only ferry to Manhattan. The establishment of the
terminus of the Long Island Railroad on Atlantic Avenue brought
additional activity to this area.

Furman Street (between Joralemon Street and Atlantic Avenue) -

This portion of the proposed sewer will be mined through a tunnel
and will go deep beyond the bounds of archaeological limits, so far
as can be determined from the geological profile and the boring

samples,

- Main and Plymouth Streets - The same observation as for
Furman Street appears to hold truelfor-this_portion of the

proposed sewer, which will be mined throughfa tunnel.



RECOMMENDATTIONS :

The author makes the following recommendations'concerning.
Projedt 1A, TFor Fulton Street, there should be a Stage 11
survey when the actual open cut is made for the sewer. Because .
of the magnitude of the work envisaged, there should be two
gqualified archaedlégists on the'spot to make observations and
collections, The manner in which the collections should be made
‘would have to be worked out well in advance with the excavators
in order to recover the most material in the time available.

The most important zones appear to be the shell zones, Layers

b and e, however once the sewer cut is opened, the actual strategy
of the archaeélogical investigations may change. It.might be
recommended that the initial fiil down to the richest and most
interesting beds ér layers be taken down rapidly, then a more
slower approach be maintained in.the culturally rich layers. It
may be possible to sift the soil in massive sieves, as another
tentative recommendation. While it does not appear that the
sewer cut will affect the presumed foundations of the 0ld Corpor-
" ation House at Nos. 19, 21 and 23 Fulton Street, it would appear
" to be very timely to make an excavation or "sondage" in the
parking lot area. BEven a trench measuring fifteen feet long,

" three feet wide and approximately nine or ten feet deep (the
limit of the suspected foundation) would be very instructive.

For Main and Plymouth Streets, no additional archaeological
work appears to be necessary since the sewer will be mined
through a tﬁnnel and it is a fill area. 7

For the Atlantic Avenue, Purman Street amd Joralemon Street

complex, the author's recommendations are that a qualified

-9
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" archaeologist make a Stage II survey of boﬁh Joralemon Street énd
Atlantic Avenue whén fhese streets are opened for the sewers. |
Tn all likelihood, there will be nothing or little to obtain

 from Atlantic Avenue because this area ié all fill 1ying over the
original cove situated there. Joralemon Street on the other hand,
even though it has been churned up considerably toward the surface
has a zone in the section at a depth of about ten feet which may
yield the foundation remains of the early distillery. Thus the
presence of an érchaeologist on both of these streets during

" the time of the sewer excavation is-deemed a precautionary measure
in the possibility that historic remains may be uncovered.

The proposed sewer in Furman Street between Joralemon
Street and Atlantic Avenue will be mined through in a tunﬁel.

. It will not encounter any archaeological or historic structures

ete., so far as could he determined in the present study by

the author. No recommendation thereforé for additional surveys

of this part of the sewer project is made.

It is_emphaéized here that in the kmowledge of the author,
unless a Stage II follow.up is made by qualified afchaeologists,

a heritage of great value to Brooklyn and New fork City will be

lost. Understandably, other portions of the street could be

excavated at a future time, but since the opportunity presents

itself, it should not be by-passed.
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“First Ferry to Long Island,” perhaps one o
Cornelius Dircksen's vovages in 1642 (Lon!

2 ?é%';- Island Historical Society ).
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“The Bankers' Corner”—25-27 Fulton .'S'lree.r f"g
at left, and 5 Front Street { David Hirsch, Of- ]
fice of Downtown Brooklyn Development). -,
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REFEREMCES.

. - . .
1. The * Corporation {lousd,”™ or * Ferry JLavern,” oeoupied durhig
lre ievolutionury war by Messrs! Loogely and Elms, as the » Kingy
lisad "Tuvers™ ol '
iz John Hapel je's house, witly garden axtending ta the river,

v The U old Stone/avern,” kept by Besjamin Smilh,

'{. M Cary Lndlow's house,

fa. Thoe Hicks Manslon. '
g. The MIddagh Mapsion.

T. Tl Middagh burn., .

A The  Whalebone Gate,” so valled from s being arched over with
whale's rib-hone. It apebed at the side of Mr.-Thomas Everit'y
e, huto s lune leading up ta Mr, Curey Ludlow's huuses”

Figure 12
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Fulton and Frant streets, [816-18200 Long ago when " Ferry Village™ was Brooklyn's biggest !
town, when Fulton Street was Old Ferry Ruad. it looked like this. Between 1816 and 1820. Fran-
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Ky To GUY's BROOKLYNS SNOW SCENE,

. Dwelling anpd store of Thos. W. Birdsall (=till

11. Mr=, Chester’s * Coffee Room,™ 23 Mres, Guy dihe artisi's wife),
living, 1860 1

1

1

1

1
2, Rohert Cunningham's £ Tncol Patchen.
. House of Abiel Titue — see page 50 3. Jaeob Hieks™s woodyard, corner Main strect i, Mrs. Burnett
Edward Coope's blacksmith <hop. 1. Joshun Sand’s residence . Benjamin Mecker, 1alking with
| 4 Geo. Fricke's earriage shop 5. Auzustus Grahnm's residence, coruer Doek <treet 28 Judge John Garrison,
5. Diana Rapelje’s house. 16, Burdet Stecker’s honse and butcher shop HL Thos, W, Bivd-all
. Mrs. Middagh's honse, 1. Selal Smith's tavern A Jneoby Hick-.
. St. Ann's Church, corner of Sands and Washinge 15, Morrison’s, on the heizhi- G Abiel Thrus.
ton streets. 19, Dy, Ball’s honse, opposite Morri=on’s d2 Mes. Gilbert Titns
. Residence of Edward Coope. 90, Auenstns Graham, conversine with S Abiel Tins"s neero servant * Jeft,™
. Abiel Titne's barn and slanghter honse. 21 Joshyun Sands, James (son of Abich Titns, on horsela k
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Fulton Street Brooklvn from East River, 1857: Well over a century ago Long Island-bound horse cars draw ferry passengers eastward on Fulton

g Street, past stores and sidewalks alive with busy people. At right, full-skirted ladies stroll past flower-seller whose bouguets brighten ground near
Hinman Brothers' classic "junk shop.” At Hinman's, said an old man, remembering, Brooklyn housewives could buy just about anything, " from a
spool of thread to a mahogany coffin. . .." (Long Island Historical Society ).
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| Fulton Ferry vessel William Culling, built in
1827 (Long Island Historical Society ).
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Turreted cun.’ crested Brun“\ n ferry house,
built in 1871 Unsophisticated camera lens
hlurs horse cars, one marked " City Hall 13
and bhearing partially legible placard for
“Coney Island... Connect...Steam

Cars. ..Greenwood” (Long Island Historical
Saciety)
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Proposed for Designation as Landmarks and Landmark Sites
_ BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN ' ‘
: No. 2 . .. (LP-0%49)
Pratt-New York Phoenix School -of Design {New York IS(I:hO()lI ‘of‘ Applied Deéigx;
for Women), 160 Lexington Avenue, Manhattan. T '
Landaark Site: Tax Map Block 886, Lot 21~ . . " M0
This hearing has been duly advertised. - * =~ - i 3
Close the hearing. " '

T T YR R R R L

Na3 . (LPdose)

George'W. Vanderbilt Residence, 647 Fiith Avenue, L;;hattaxla. o \
Landmark Site: Tax Map Block 1287, Lot 71. \S'U-‘( .. £
This hearing has been duly advertised. ’ - ' f' i
Close the hearing. ' . . M 'S S ﬁ'
e Mg a,,’(':v_lﬁ?
» g.—
~
L'}
I ﬂ
e
C
o
G

"+ - Proposed for Designation as an Historic District - -

'+ . BOROUGH OF BROOKLYN s

No.d o (LP-0956) -
Fulton Ferry Historic District. )
Part of the eastern and part of the southern property lines of 40-44 Cadman
Plaza West, the remaining part of the eastern property line of 40-44 Cadman

. Plaza West, Cadman Plaza West, Front Street, the northeastern and north-
western property lines of 3-7 Front Street, the northwestern and northeastern .
property lines of 19 Cadman Plaza ‘West, the northeastern property lines of 17 ‘4,
through 13 Cadman' Plaza West, the northeastern property line ot 4-12 Water
Street, Water Street, the eastern property line oi 85 Water Street, part of the
southern property line of Block 26, Lot I, Main Street, part of the southern i
property line of the dock at the foot of Main Street, the shoreline of the East
River to the north side of the dock at the foot of Cadman Plaza West, the dock
at tr» foot of Cadman Plaza West, the shoreline of the East River at the foot :
of Cadman Plaza West, the south side of Cadman Plaza West, Furman Street,. i
Doughty Street to the eastern end of the rear of that building described as 40-44.
Cadman Plaza West, Brooklyn.

This hearing has been duly advertised. . .
i Close the.h_‘uring.

, ’ . S AcTum 1
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Fidton Street Brooklvn lovking east. 1974: Seen last vear Byan airborne camera.ahove East River, sanre Fulton Street as
over and bypassed by Brookive Bridge. Its ferry slip with old pifings still showing, here a fire
of City’s plans later this year. At center left is Fulton Ferry Park site, and ahove it, across Water Street. stand Brooklvn Hotel building and its row,
hegrimed by their years but still recognizable. Stone sidewalk so carefrtly drawn jin 1857
Survivals here and there on-today’s street ( Office of Dowarawn Brookin Develapment ),

in 1857 print is arched
hoat pier, is by now newly bulkheaded in anticipation

print—granite-curbed and elegumi—is one of wonderful
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St.
g gt j_.__ Historic District

Historic Buildings

1 Empire Stores
2 Eagle Warehouse

3 Fulton Frontage

4 Brooklyn City R.R.

5 48 Columbia Hgts. -\

6 85 Water

' FIGURE 46
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! c port and Empire Stores/Fulton Street complexes, an
Fort Clinton and harbar islands. City dwéllers'already enjoy promenades in lower Manhattan, along Brooklyn Heights, across lofty Brooklyn Bridge.
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Plate 1l -~

Plate 2 -

Plate 3=

PLATES

a. Looking west towWward the East River at the foot of
Fulton Street. The first major building at the right
is the old Long Island Safe Deposit Company. At the

-end of the street is the Marine Fire House, built in

1924,

b. Looking northeast over Fulton Street from the corner
of Furman and Fulton Streets. Comparé this view taken
from the same spot as the plcture made in 1857 (Fig.20).

Core drllllng at the south side of lower Fulton Street
between Everitt Street and Furman Street. Mr. T.
MeGovern is cataloging the soil specimens. The drill-
ing rig is in the background.

a. The location of the 01d Corporation House on the
north side of Fulton Street at Nos. 19, 21, 23

occupied presently by the Waxman Building and the park-
ing lot. The building at the right is the irom clad

- Long Island Safe Deposit Company building, now vacant.

-Plate 4 -

Plate 5 -

Plate 6 -

3

b. In the center of the view looking north on Front

Street from Fulton Street is No. 11 Front Street. From

the second floor of the building which occupied the
site in 1820, Francis Guy painted his. famous "Snow
Scenes". At the extreme left is a portlon of the Long
Island Safe Deposit Company.

The corner of Furman Street and Joralemon Street, look-
ing west toward the dock. In this viecinity stood the
Pierrepont Anchor Gin Distillery and a windmill.

a. Looking west from the corner of Furman and Atlantic
Avenue, looking toward the East River.

b. Looking north on Furman Street from the corner of
Atlantic Avenue and Furman Street. The Brooklyn
Heights -are to the right. ‘ :

Public School No. 7 built the year before. the Brooklyn
Bridge in 1882, and standing on the approximate location
of the "Indian Hill" on York Street between Jay and

Bridge Streets.
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FPlate

" Plate

Plate

Plate

'7_.

8 -

9 -

10-

7

8. Lookiﬁg toward the East River down Main Street.
Howard Alley is at the left. The Manhattan Bridge
crogsses the street in this view.

b. Looking toward Pearl Street and the-Manhattan'Bridge.'
The railroad tracks imbedded in the cobble stoned pave-
ment is seen through the snow.

a. The end of Plymouth Street, looking northwest toward
the Brooklyn Bridge. The Empire Stores building is at
the left.

b. Looking over the piles of the abandoned docks in.
front of the Empire Stores at the end of Plymouth
Street, looking toward Manhattan.

The vacant lot at Nos. 21 and 2% Fulton Street,
location of the old Corporation House on the north

side of the'street,

a. Looking northwest at Furman and Fulton Streets
showing the Marine Fire Station, built in 1924, and

" the east tower of the Brooklyn Bridge.

"b. Looking west from the foot of Main Street at
~the East Rlver toward Manhattan.

~141- -
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~ SUPPLEMENTARY BORINGS:

As a result of the conference held on January 11, 1977
at the Environmental Protection Agency headquarters at Federal
"Plaza, a plan was drawn up on January l4th to make supplementary
borings in connection with the proposed sewer pfoject. A total
of eight borings was proposed on lower Fulton Street, five (Al,
A2, A3, A4, A5) to be located on the south side of Fulton Street,
and three (46, A7, 48) on the north side of Fulton Street near
the corner of Water Street (Fig. %2). The object of these bor-
.ings was to try.to ascertain more information in the area between
the origihal borings Nog. S30A and 46, which outlined what appear
to be beds of shells (Layer b and Layer e) in the geological
. profile. It wa;-hoped to be able o obtain a larger sample of
shells for possible-radio—carbon 14 dating, in the presumption of
'_course that; thié might .represent aboriginal deposits. As it
turned out, the associated materials found in the new supplementa?y
borings ihcluded non-Indian fragments of bricks, c¢rockery and
white clay pipestems as well as wood and lééthe? scraps. This
nullified the prospects of obtaining uncontaminéted samples for
dating. All of the drillings were made in the presence of the
archaeologist, lMr. Thomas leGovern. The crew spent a total of 17
days on the job., Mr. MéGovern spent two days in making the
laboratory analysis. His report formg Appendix I of this report.

The two proposed borings (410 and All) on Main Street were
not carfied‘ouf'because this was to be & tunnel sewer. One of
these borings (LLO) was diverted to another point on Fulton
- Btreet at No. 21 in ffoﬁt of an empty lot where it is suspected

that the Co:poration House stood, and renumbered as Al2.
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The Joralemon Street boring (A9) was moved around to a point
about 70 feet south of the intersection of Joralemon Street and
Furman Street on the west side of Furman Street (Fige. 36).

All of the supplementary borings were taken in an attempt
to botain a continuous sample (of the best obtainable) down to
an approximate depth of 35 feet. BSamples were recovered from the
spoon of the drill, as well as from the wash from the borings,
and bagged in long plastic containers, marked with indelible
pencils, and piaced in long half tubes of plastic, which were
" then stored in wooden boxes. The boxes were taken to the Depart-
ment of Water Resources bﬁilding on Church Street in Manhattan.
The ultimate disposition of the core samples will be to the
Lamont-Deherty Geological Observatory of Columbia University,
which expressed an interest in the samples.

A summary analysis of the boring results is as follows:

'Boring Al ~ Cultural material, including pottery fragments,
some wood; charcoal and shells were found at a depth of_28 to 30
feet. This marks the lower limit of the lens of shells etc. at
Layer e in the geological profile (Fig. 31). The cultural
material indicates that this was not an aboriginal deposit, but
probably the result of a 19th century dump into the Fast River.
It could be part of William Furman's 1816 oyster house refuse,
located at just about this point.

Boring A2 - Glazed pottery chips, and small brick chips
and some chips of shells were found down to a depth of between
24 to 28 feet deep, the limit of the cultural material. It
confirms the upward slope of the deposit of Layer e in this quarter.

Boring A% - Cultural material stops at a depth of about
16 to 18 feet deep, . confirming the geological profile for Layer

e. Nothing indicates aboriginal deposition.
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Boring A4 - This boring was less rich in shelis and bone
refuse than Al, A2 and AB; This boring is close to the original
0ld shoreline. Wood fragments found at a depth of 16-18 feet
could have come from old piers.

Boring A5 - Cultural material, including some wood nnd brick
flakes end at about a depth of 12 to 14 feet and 14 to 16 feet.
This was Just about the location of the 0ld shore, and here the
old surface is above ground water level.
| Borings A6 to A8 - These borings were probably directed on
the site of the o0ld dock structure shown in the 1746 views of
the 01d Ferry (Fig. 7). Wood recovered from the A6 boring
seems to be part of a large beam, perhaps a pier. The scil
appears‘to indicate a shallow-water envirohment, presumably the
still water area just to the north of the pier shown in the early
18th century illustrations. Boring A-6 yielded rich culturai
materials, inecluding a pipe stem at 14 to 16 feet and metal,
leather and wood in the same level, plus shells. Leather, wood,
brick, shell and pottery were recovered from a depth of 16 to 18
feet., Thig is evidently from the lens Layer b and corrobrates
the geological profile. Boring A7 confirms the geological pro-
file with Layer b. Dark organic silt containing vegetation
and bnick and much shell was found between the depths of 14 to
18 feet. DBoring A8 confirms the Layer b position. Peaty organic
silt deposits found at a depth of 16 %o 22 feet. Mr. McGovern
thinks that this very likely represents part of the o0ld shoreline,

Boring AlZ2 - This boring was placed near the suspected site

of the old Corporation House in front of the empty lot at No.

21 Pulton Street (Fig. 16). According to Mr. McGovern, there is

a lack of organic silts in the boring, indicating that this was
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dry laend. There are fragments of brick, tile and plaster down to
about a depth of nine feet. This materiéi funs out at‘lo to 12
feet depth, and ceases entirely at about 12 feet. It is confirmed
by the location on the geological profilé; which indicates that
the bottom of the fill at this point goes to about 11 féet.

Boring at Joralemon Street (Fig.36):

Boring A9 - Cultural ﬁaterial was found to a depth of. about
8 to 10 feet, with the presence of some "asphalt-macadam”,
éravel, ashes and slag. DMr. McGovern believes tﬁat the boring
results are indicative of & secondary deposit because the
building material (brick, tile, plaster énd slate) plus other
materials were so ground up and mixed. The excavations for the
Brooklyn-Queens Expressway (Fig.37) and the large building on
Joralemon Street (the 0ld Woodruff building) probably churned
up the original ground surfaces. Dark orgaﬁic silt and shells
at a depth of between 22 to 28 feet apﬁéars to indicate a brack-
ish shore water area. The recommendation for this part of the
Joralemon Street site is that too much cannot be expected from

investigations there.

LABORATORY ANATLYSIS:

Mr. McGovern spent two days in examining the soil samples
in cooperation with the Sub-surface Division Geologist at their
laboratory on Church Street. He believes that he could distinguish
“a ca. 1813-16 landfill, which is composed of coarse-red or fine-
medium brown sand, with small flecks of brick and shells mixed
in it. It is believed that this represents a rapid filling.
One of the borings, Al2 seems to have located the old Corporation

House., At Boring A9, it is possible that the debris at a depth
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of between 12 %o 13 feet may be part of the 61d Pierrepont
"distillery facfory; which seems plausible, beéause‘this depth
would place the position just above the ground water-level, and

the street slopes upward to the east close to this point.
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Tlgo’inés McGovern, M.A., M. Phil.
: C01umbia University, New York
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Thomas H. McGovern L . ' Pebruary 13, 1977
- Weekly Report - ' ‘

Red Hook Sewer Survey

1053 ‘

Fulton Street Borings 41, A2 A3

Week of February 7, 1977

Days worked: 5

Borings Al, AZ, and A3 completed to below 30 feet. Boring
Al is much more productive of cultural material than either A2 or
43, both of which produced much wood at 10' to 14' but little shell,
glazed pottery found at 30' level of shells in Al suggests the
shell deposit is not in situ aboriginal.

Wood and shell found in A2-A% might represent a pier or
dock structure extending out into the river, or wooden sleeper
foundations for structures built on or over the riverbank.

Recovery methods on A2 and A% are completely comparable.
Al was not so carefully observed due to intense cold and some
mitual confusion about how best to conduet the driliing for
archaeological purposes.r

Estlmate.remalnlng borings will go at about 1,5‘days/hole, if .
utility clearances are prompt and major obstruction is not encountered.

s/Thomas H. Mchvern

Personnel: ‘
- . Mr., Harold Lowenfeld -~ Public Works Sub-surface Testlng Representatlve
Thomas McGovern - Archaeologlcal Representatrve . )
Connors Drilling Co. -
F. Goughan - Drlller
J. Danke = Helper




. 'page 1 of 2
Diary Report . ;- , - ;February‘7, 1977

Weather very cold Spent most 'of day observ1ng
mechanics of drilling process. No so smmple or. SO. rellable as I had
believed. Much trouble below six feet in getting the spoon up with
sample intact. Did not order re-driving of spoon (sediments would
be mixed) which may be correct decision; also did not collect the
wash out debris, which I think was not a correct decision. Will try
to collect wash out material in future (should get some kind of
dlpper/screen to aid this). I think the DPW method of putting some
wash in little bottles may not be suitable for us. For instance,
what if we want to quantify (by weight?) shell density in Al, 6'-8'
vs. A2, 6'-8'. Will need not the water but the partlculates. May
be a bit tricky, will have to experiment. Good liason with Mr.
Lowenfeld and drillers. Holes Al and A2 cleared by Con Ed, Water
and Brooklyn Union Gas. Will need to have clearances for other
borings, but probably no hassel there. Will use Lowenfeld's on
site descriptions of sediments for log purposes and supplement
them in the 1lab analy51s later.

Note: Mr. Lowenfeld reports some interesting cultural traces
in borings from the Bush Terminal Sewer Works down the way; cobble-
stones at 4'-5'6" down. Check Job #1027, Bores 7, 8, 9, especially
boring #8 at the 4'-5'6" level.

s/Thomas H. McGovern
Photo Report: |

On arrival at job area 9 15 A.M., photographed AlO and 11
over at Main and Water Streets, both drilling locations and immediate
area (plus NY skyline at morning shot). Roll 1 frames l-4. Also
photographed general area of Al1-9., Heavy trucks observed most of
areaj should re-photograph. Prof. R. 8. SBolecki has additional photos
in B & W and color of general area. Roll 1, frames 5-7. Roll 1 is
ASA 125 Kodak Panatomic X. B & W. ‘s * ot

Personnel:
Mr. Harold Lowenfeld - Public Works Sub- surface Testlng Representatlve
Thomas McGovern - Archaeclogical Representative
Lonnors Drilling Co.
F. Goughan - Driller
J. Danke - Helper

-161-



 —

; - ﬁégeAE of 2
Boring Report Job #1053 : " February 7, 1977

Red Hook Sewer Survey : L Clear and windy
BORING Al

Southwest corner of Fulton and Furman Streets at Cadman Plaza
_ Began drilling 9:30 A.M.

0-2" Sample retrieved (frozen) |

2-4" Sample retrieved

4-6' Sample retrieved _
6'-7'10" No sample retrieved t No wash collééted

7t10"-9'10" Sample retrieved .
Some shell and gravel

9r10"-12' . Sample retrieved (short) No wash collected
12'-14" No sample retrieved

14'-16' Yo sample retrieved No wash collected

(Few grains of pea gravel
in spoon _ '
16'-18" Sample retrieved ' Wash full of oystef;'éome burnt

shell (some burnt)

18'-20" No sample retrieved

End Drilling 4:30 P.M.
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" page 1 of. 2 -
Diary Report : - | S February 8, 1977

Weather warmer, ca 0%e. Drllllng went better today, no samples
lost. Have begun observing washout and c¢ollecting possible cultural
material on a regular basis. I think I will continue this right along, -
as we may pick up some valuable extra data this way. Will use trans-
parent zip-lock bags for these samples. Took tour around the area
with Dr. Solecki; saw warehouses etc and got idea of pre-filled
shoreline, The pottery (glazed) from the lowest coves showing much
cultural material seems to suggest post-contact fill rather than
buried aboriginal .shell mound. Wood is in good waterlogged state of
preservation. Excavators or watchers should expect this and have
some PVA or similar handy.

s/ Thomas MeGovern

Photo Report:

Shot Roll 1 frames 7-10. ca 10:30 A.M., general Al area
shots showing site and drilling. Frames 10-20 general and scenery
shots. Roll 1 ASA 125 Kodak Panstomic B & W

Personnel:
Mr. Harold Lowenfeld - Public Works Sub-surface Testlng Representatlve
Thomas McGovern - Archaeological Representative
Connors Drilling Co.

F. Goughan - Driller

J. Danke - Helper

~163- %i;i . .



Boring Report Job #1053
Red Hook Sewer Survey

BORING Al

page 2 of 2

February 8, 1977

Southwest corner at Fulton and Farman Streets at Cadman Plaza
Began drilling 8: 30 A M.

20'-22"

22"'-24"

24' -26"

26'-28"

28'-30!

30'-32"

32'=-34"

341-36"

36'-38"

‘Sample recovered.

‘Sample recovered.

Field 1nspectlon of cove

Sample recovered, some shell
and 7 wood.

Sample recovered wood and
shell.

Sample recovered, wood, shell;

gsome small brick fragments, black

silty-sand.

Sample recovered, shell, wood,
black silty sand.

"y

: Pottery
fragments include grey paste.
"stoneware"
Wood, charcoal, shell, dark
sandy-silt.

Saﬁple recovered. Only few

chips of shell in upper part of -

core, bottom third or so looks
into natural.
Sample recovered. No obvious
cultural material.

No obvious
cultural material.
Sample recovered. No obvious
cultural material.
pea gravel and pebbles. .

n
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w/glaze on one side. . burnt.

Greyish sand’

Sand with some

Wash inspection.

Wash scorched, black silty-
sand, . shell,

Wash écorched, mussel and
oyster shell,

“Wash scorched, many shells,

oyster and mussel, some
burnt.

~Wash much wood and oyster

shell; some wood fragments
(water-logged) ca 3-4 cm long.

Wash - Severalpottery fragments
ca. 4 types; shells, some
Bagged and saved.

Wash - few chips of shell,

.very little compared with

above twOo cOres.

‘Wash - no cultural material.

Wash - no cultural material.

Wash' - ﬁp cultural material.
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Diary Report : ‘ ' ' © . February 9, 1977
Weather warmer, clear, less wind. Observing the wash-out
closely, picking up anything that looks artifactual = . Some of
the '"brick chips" noted in boring report may turn. out to be either
red paste pottery or red colored stones. U51ng zip-lock bags for
wash samples. No:problem losing samples as in Boring Al. Senior
Con Edison man reports 0ld Dutch house on Middagh and Willow
Streets in Heights. Informant (Charlie?) seems very knowledg-
able about sub-surface Brooklyn, might be good contact. Gas
station proprietor (Texaco) at corner of Fulton and Everitt reports
presence of sub-street cellar extension under sidewalk at A3
location. Will shift A3 a foot or so to E (uphill) to try
to miss this,

s/Thomas H. MeGovern

FPhoto Reporti

. No new photos taken as work and location hmve both been
recorded February 7th and 8th by myself and Dr. Solecki.
. 1

Personnel: ' '
Mr. Harold Lowenfeld - Public Works Sub-surface Testlng Representative
Thomas McGovern-——Archaeological Representative
Connors Drilling Co.

F. Goughan - Driller

J. Danke - Helper
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Boring Report Job #1053
Red Hook Sewer Survey

BORING A2

F
1

page 2 of 2
Febfuary 9, 1977

Northwest corner of Fulton and FUrman Street at Cadman Plaza west
Began drllllng 8:320 A.M.

First Try
o-2'

Frozen ground, concrete and slag : No

ships. Note: Drill hits solid

concrete(?) obstruction at 2' at
Two other tries

building margin.
near (within 2') of this point
also hit obstruction at ca.2'.
Boring A2 moved about 5' out to
sidewalk and began again.

Second Try

o-2'

D1t
FIL-y

T 6'-8!

8'-10"

10'-12!

12'-14"

14'-16"'

16'-18"1

Pavement (slate) frozen soil,sone" No

slag and charcoal.

Frozen soll and gravel.

‘Sand, a few fragments of

gravel.

Band, some gravel at top;
wet.

1

Few small fragments of shell,
brown sandy silt.

Brown sandy-silt.
5""'6“ o

Gravel, metal chips, more. wood,
as in bottom at 10'-12"'.

ALarge plece of wood (as in.
10412 and 12'-14'), pebbles.

Dark sand, more large pleces
of wood (as in 10'-12', 12'-
14" and 14'-16').

End drilling 4:30 P.M.

-166-

. No
No

" No

Thick water;i

 First wash out, 0-12'
logged wood cut thru at bottom

N6 wash at this depth.

a

wash at this depth.

wagh at this depth.

Waéh at,this.depth.

wash at this depth.

Ko wash.at<this depth.

includ-
ing brick c¢hips, small shell
fragments, small pottery chips,
wood fragments.

'-rﬁuch wood (1g. fragments)

Wood and small brlck
fragments.

" Wood, large pieces with (?)
- wormholes.

Brick chips,
1 frag. bone (evanial).



page 1 of 2
Diary Report o . Pebruary 10, 1977

Weather warmer, clear. Observing wash—out as before.
Terminated drllllng after ca., 6' of natural material (looks to me
like the old river bottom. Boulder (?7) at 27' really pretzeled
the spoon. Started new boring at A%, N.E. corner of building on
Fulton and Furman Streets) and got down to 8'. Nasty work due to
snow pile and snow melt. Quit at 3:40 as wash was getting hard to
collect.

Q/Thomas H. McGovern

Photo Report:
No photos taken

Personnel: .
Mr. Harold Lowenfeld-Public Works Sub-surface Testing Representatrve
Thomas McGovern - Archaeological Representatlve
Connors Drilling Co.

F. Goughan - Driller

J. Danke - Helper
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Boring Report Job #1053
Red Hook Sewer Survey

BORING A2

f&ge 2 of 2

February 10, 1977

Northwest corner of Fulton and Furman Streets at Cadman Plaza West
Began drilling 8:30 A.M,

181-20"
20'-22!
oot on !
o1t _pg!
26'-28"
28'-30"
30'-32"

Dark sandy-silt, some wood chlps. Large wood chips, white
glazed pottery Shard,
brick (?) chips.

White glazed pottery (as in pre~ Wood chips, brick chips,
vious wash), brick, metal chip; slate fragments, bone
Dark sandy-silt, some pea gravel. fragments.

Very small sample recovered. TookBrick chips (?). 8Shell
bottle of wash sample %o supple- chips, slate fragments.
ment. Dark sand and silt, some-

small pebbles.

Greyish sandy-silt. DNot much

Glazed pottery chips, very
obvious cultural material.

- small brick chips, very
- small shell chips.

-Band snd silt.

Not much
obvious cultural material.

Very hard drive, spoon de-

stroyed. Large rock frag-
ments. Boulder???

No cultural material

End drilling A2 - 1:00 P.M.

" ~168-

Brick chip, little
cultural material.

No cultural material.

No cultural material
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page 1 of 3.
Diary Report o - February 11, 1977 |

Warm weather, clear. Observing wash as before. Apart
from wooden beam (?) in same general depth range as- A2, there
seems little cultural material here. Spiral shells and worm holes -
in wood interesting. Possible pre-fill pier structure provides &
home for both woodworms and these small marine snails?? Work at
A% rather nasty due to melt water, hard to observe the wash samples
as thoroughly as in A2, but I think results are comparable anyway.

s/Thomas H. McGovern

Photo Report:

No new photos taken

Personnel: : . ' : C ,
Mr. Harold Lowenfeld - Public Works Sub-surface Testing Representative
Thomas McGovern - Archaeclogical Representative - o
Connors Drilling Co.
¥. Goudhan - Driller ‘ _
J. Danke - Helper - 8 ' !

AL e SR



Boring Report Job #1053
Red Hook Sewer Survey

Boring A3

page 2 of 3
vFebruary 10/11/1977

Northwest corner of building on Fulton and Furman Streets on property’.
line with Texaco Station
Began drilling 1:30 E,M

0-2"
214
415
6'-8"
8'-10"

Brick, shell,
soil frozen

charcoal, ash,

No wash this depth.

Pebbles at ca. 2.5-3" then a thicklNo wash this depth.

. No obvious cultural
Still frozen.

grey silt.
materials.

Sand and pebbles, flecks of shell,Wash collected 0'-6".

otherwise no obvious cultural
material. Still frozen.

Wood and shell chips.
sample recovered. Collected ’
bottle wash sample brown sand.

Small brick chips, (?)shell,

's0lid piece of water logged

wood at bottom 1.5-2".

End work February 10, 1977.

10'-12"
12'-14!
14'-16"
16'-18"
18'-20"
20'-22!
22'-24"
241-26"
26'-28"

Large piece wood in top, looks
like same piece as bottom of
(8'-10'). Rock fragments.
Spoon bent.

Wood fragments. Greyish sand
and silt, stone fragments.

Wood fragments, greyish sand and
silt, stone fragments.

Some shell and wood, pebbles and
stone chips.

Gravel, no obvious cultural mat-
erial.

S8ilt and some shells, thick or-
ganic silt. River bottom???

Thick sticky silt changing to
sand, some shells.

Sand and pebbles. No obvious

cultural material.

Sand. No obvious cultural
material,
_100

Not
much cultural material,

Very littleFew brick chips

Large piece water-logged
wood. Small brick chips.

" Wood fragments. DPossible
brick chips.
Wood fragments. One piece

of green glass.

Wood fragments, shell chips,
white-glazed, blue-painted
rottery shard.

Shell chips, brick (?) chips.
Oyster shell fragments.

Many shells, some spiral turret
types, sticky silt.

Few shell fragments.

No cultural material.

No cultural materiszl.



| ] page 3 of A
Boring A3 . i . T February. 10/11/77

28'-30'  Band. ' No obvious éuitural‘ No cultural material.
material. — " o

End Drilling A3.
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Thomas H. McGovern = E ‘ _ Ffevruary 19, 1977
Weekly Report fate "

Red Hook Sewer Survey

1055

Fulton Street Borings A4 A5, A8 -

Week of February 15, 1977

Days Worked: 4

' . Borings at A4 and AS completed to below 30 feet, boring A8
completed to 18 feet

AL and A5 much less rich in shells and bone refuse than
Al, A2 and A3. Cloger to original shoreline and perhaps filled a%
an earlier date, at a comparatively rapid rate allowing comparatively
llttle accumulation of refuse clumped off shore (7).

Heavy wood found in A4 at approximately same depth as wood in
AE and A3. -Possible pier structure? A 8 seems teo be into natural
deposit at 16!-18" : . )

Cold and w1ndchlll cause difficult working conditions and
definitely slow work down. Wash was impossible for part of A5 due
to temperature, but examination of recovered casing samples was
thorough and I believe comparability was malntalned.

Samples oollected from pits dug along west side of Water
Street. Repo;t will be prepared separately.

s/Thomas H. McGovern

Personnel: ' '
Mr. Harold Lowenfeldédellc Works Sub surface Testlng Representatlve
Thomas. McGovern-Archaeologigal Representatlve
Connors Drilling Co.:
F. Goughan < Driller
J. Danke - Helper
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page 1 of 2
Diary Report ‘ ' February 15, 1977

Weather cold and windy. Not much shell in this boring so far.
Think wood at ca 10'-16' is rather impressive. We%& preserved
chunks should give some chance for dendro-chron, C+*, and species
identification. Could this be a pier (we are in the ca. 1760's
shallows area now)? or a footing-beam? or perhaps part of the pier-
dock shown in the 1767 map.

Wood under pressure really caught spoon. Had to drive casing
down to cut it free, then drive spoon out of casing with a mallet.
This suggests a rather large piece of wood down there rather than
just an isolated chunk we happened to hit.

s/Thomas H. McGovern

—~——
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Boring Report Job #1053
Red Hook Sewer Survey

. . BORING A4

page 2 of 2
February 15, 1977

Southwest corner of Fulton and Everit at Cadman Plaza West

Began driliing 9:15 A.M.

o-2! Concrete, frozen'soil,'some
‘ charcoal.
2'-4'  Concrete, last 3" sandy-

silt, some brick and char-~
coal fragments.

4rogt. Gravel, sand, brick, char-
: coal chips. .

6'-8! Brown medium sand, some
pebbles. No obvious
" - cultural material.

8'-10' ' Brown silty sand; brick, char-
coal, pottery fragments.

10'-12' Large compact piece of wood at
bottom 6". . Brown sand, some
brick chips. -

2' =141 Spoon is trapped by expanding
wood. Over 1.5 hrs. spent try-
ing to get it back. Recovered

* gbout 1'6" of solid wood.

416! 2" - 2" ‘more wood recovered
small pebbles.

16'-18"' * Wood fragments, some gravel.

18'-20' Pea gravel and sand. ~ No
* obvious ¢ultural material

. 201222 Grey sandjan& silt. No
. obvious c¢ultural material.

22'-24' - Grey sand. No obvious cultural
material. : : ‘
End drilling.

No wash at this depth.

No wash at this depth.

hY

No wash at this depth.

No wash at this depth.

0-10' brought up both dry cas—
ing sample arnd wash brick,
charcocal, hrown sand.

Much wood (large fragments)
and some brick chips. ;

Much wood (large fragments).

Large "wood fragments.

Wood fragments.
No cultural material.

No cultural material.

No cﬁltura} material.

1

4



pa Lol 2
Diary Report S February 16, 1977

Low temperatures and windchill reslly hamper work. Drillers
keep freezing to the cable, wash water freezed instantly. Border-
line working conditions, everything takes longer due to hypothermia-

clumsiness. Not really a nice day. (DPiary report continues on
following A5 Sheet).

-~ No cultural material apparent at this depth. Loéoks like
the old river bottom and little else.

s/Thomas H. MeGovern

[
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Boring Report Job #1053
Red Hook Sewer Survey

. BORING A4

page 2 of 2
February 16, 1977

Southwest corner of Fulton and Everit at Cadman Plaza West

Began drilling 8:30 A.M.

24261 Sand. No obvious cultural

material.

26'-28" Sand, some silt at tip. No
obvious cultural material

28'-30" Brown sand. Nco obvious

cultural material.

End work on A4 at lé:OO Noon.

Began work on A5 (see other sheet)

F =176~

No obvious cultural material.
(Hard to observe due to
immediate freezing.)

No obvious cultural material.

No obvious cultural material.



Diary Report _ , February 17, 1977

Very intense cold and windchill. Parkas and cold make the
work slower and clumsier for all. Wash-out is abandoned and casing
is withdrawn and beaten out. Less desireable than the wash sample,
but this seems only practical solution, even though it takes longer
to collect.

Brick and mortar wall is near wall line of anything built on
gsouthwest cormer of Fulton and Everit. Brown sterile sand again
seems to represent the former river bottom or strand line. Not
positive all "brick chips" are really in situ, as they may drift
a good deal and are easily confused in the field with fragments of
red sandstone, also present in samples.

Observed a line of pits dug along west side of Water Street at
the junction of Fulton and Water. Spoil heaps full of shell and

artifacts. Will observe more closely and make collections from
spoil heaps. On approximate site of old ferry building.

s/ Thomas H. McGovern

Photo Report:

Roll #2, frames. 1-5 Area at A5, Brooklyn harbor area.

, 5-8 Operation of drill rig, recovery of samples.
~ ABA 125 Kodak Panatomlc, B &W

o Y | ,



Boring Report Job #1053
Red Hook Sewer Burvey

BORING A5

Southwest corner of Fulton Street and Everit.

February 16/17, 1977

clear service station entrance (Texaco Station)

0-2'

2' -4
41-6"
6'-8'
8'-10"
10'-12!
12'-14"
14'-16"
16'-18'
18'-20"
20'-22"
22 =24
241 -26"
26'-28!
28'-3§f

Concrete, Drick and mortar wall
beneath.

" Brick and mortar wall.

Brick and mortar wall, bricks
clearly outlined in grey, sandy
mortar.

No sample recovered (hit
boulder?)

Brick and mortar ends ca 7'6".
Beneath is fine-medium brown
sand with trace of shell.

Coarse-medium brown sand, shell
flecks. No obvious cultural
material.

Brown sand, shell traces, brick

- flakes, some wood.

'
1
'
t
i
i

Ly materiale 1o

o

:Bfowﬁ'sahd;'.Ndcbvious cultural
© . material.- . ;

Medium brown sand, brick chips

Brown sand. No obvious cultural

material.

Brown sand. No.obvious cultural
material.

Brown sand. No obvious cultural
material.

Brown Sand. No obvious cultural
material.

Brown sand. No obvious cultural
material.

Brown -sand. No obvious

cultural

L a !

Finish A5 = End ‘drilling 4:00 P.M.
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"collect

No wash at this

No wash

No wash

No wash

No wash

No wash

Casing:
flakes.

Boring moved

at this

at this

et this

at this

Cl.

due to cold.
casing sample.

&' %o

depth.

depth.

depth.

depth.

depth.

Will

wood chips, brick

Casing: brick flakes.

Casing:

material.
Casing: No
material.
Casing: No
material.
Casing: No
material.

Casing: TNo
material. -

Caging: No

- material.

Casing: No

material.

obvious

_obvious

obvious
obvious
obvious

obvious

No obvious cultural

cultural

cultural
cultural
cultural
cultural

cultural



page 1 of 2
Diary Report February 18, 1977

Weather warmer, less wind. !Much nicer. Wash water used again,
A8 follows A5 so as to avoid blocking heavy truck traffic. Boring
A8 moved 9 feet east to avoid hitting gas line.

Looks like we are into very early fill here (at about the
shore end of the 1767 pier), with peat from the stagnant lagoon that
must have occupied this stretch of coast (possibly behind a sandbar).
See also 1750 view of Brookland Ferry and note some sandbar-lagoon
features still remaining. ;

Made collection of artifacts, bone and shell from the backdirt
piles of pits on west side of Water Street. -Glass, large oyster
shells, brick and iron objects recovered. Photos made of area.

Full report will be submitted separately. Will try to get some
stratigraphic information too. :

s8/Thomas H. McGovern

Photo Report: )
. Roll #2, frameé'8512 Pitson west side of Water Btreet.

|

v e e -
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Boring Report Job #1053
Red Hoock BSewer Survey

BORING A8

page 2 of 2
February 18, 1977

North side of Fulton Street at Cadman Plaza West

Began drilling 8:15 A.M.

0-2'

2' =4
e
-6"'—8'

8'-10"

10'-12"

12'-14"

14'-16"

16'-18"

' Peat at bottom 1', natural ground

Concrete, glass, brick and

frozen soil.

sand Jjust beneath.
an isolated brick.

Brick chips, slate chlps, brown

sand.

Brown sand, brick chips, pea
' gravel. .

Brown sand, brick chips, shell
wood fragments. Dark compact

" Brick at bottom 3", some grey .
Possibly

organic material at tip of

spoon.

Brick, sandstone, boulder (?7)

Brown sand, small stones.

Wood scraps, shell, much red

sandstone fragments.

Grey sandy silt, shell

surface ca 1l6'-17'.

End work:at 4:00 P,M.

1
!i
||'
[
]

meer em e o
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Moved boring 9' east to clear utilities.

No wash at this depth.

No wash at this depth.

No wash at this depth.
No wash at this depth.

0-10' Brick pottery, (glazed)
shell, schist.

Shell, brick chips.

Shell

=

Glazed pottery, shell.
Flint fragments (dark color
no obvious knapping, except
by drill. Gunflint?)

Peat



Thomas H. McGovern % ' February 22-25, 1977
Weekly Report : ‘
Red Hook Sewer Survey
Job #1053

Days worked: &4

A8, A7, and A 6 are on the site of the shore and dock
structure indicated on both the 1767 Brookland Ferry Map and the
ca. 1750 view. Wood recovered from A6 seems part of a large beam,
perhaps a pier. Dark organic silts, peat deposits, and small
apiral marine snail shells all indicate a fairly still, brackish,
shallow-water environment; probably the area under a dock, pro-
tected by a sand bar-lagoon as shown in 1750 oblique view. Leather,
bone, wood are excellently preserved by this anaerobic depositional
environment. Pipe stems should provide (from interior diameter)
some dating information. However, the organic silts at ca 12'-14'
and their load of artifacts seem well sealed by the ca. 1800-1816
fill above. :

Recommendation: Archaeological representative (s) be on hand to
observe the sewer excavation. While machines .and "eyeball"
supervision may be adequate for upper (to ca. 12') and lower

(below ca. 20'%, the dark organic silt should be put through screens.
Excellént preservation of colonial organic artifacts suggested for
this probable pier area. FPVA or similar conservation material should
be on hand for the wood and leather., Samples for flotation might
produce much organic material of interest (especially snail shells).
Suggest a ca 4-5mm wet-screen (use hose and hydrant) would efficiently
recover artifacts from organic silt. Dry screens will likely clog
and will be hard to see artifacts in the dark colored muck.

-t

s/Thomas H. McGovern

Personnel: (for entire week)
Mr. Harold Lowenfeld - Public Works Sub-surface Testing Representative
Thomas McGovern -. Archaeological Representative - ]
Connorlerilling Co.:- F. Goughan - Driller, J. Danke - Helper

3
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page L of 2
Diary Report | | February 22, 1977

Weather warm and wet. Below cultural material in A8. Super
from building on north side of Fulton Street warns us of large
storage vaults extending out under sidewalk. He aids us to locate
A7 and A 6 to clear these. (See following page for continuation of
February 22, 1977). : '

s/%homas.H. McGovern

S g
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Boring Report Job #1053
'Red Hook Sewer Survey

Boring A8
North side of Fulton Street at Cadman Plaza West

18'-20"
20'-22"
22'=24"
24'-26"
26'-28"
28'-30"

Peat and silty-sand
No obvious cultural
material.

Medium grey-brown sand, peat.
No obvious cultural material.

Core sample not recovered
Bottle wash collected.
No obvious cultural material.

Grey medium sand
No obvious cultural material.

Sand, some mica, no . obvious
cultural material.

Sand, some (pyrite) no
obvious cultural material.

End drilling 11:15 AM

|-185-

February 22, 1979

No cultural material

Wood fragments, probably from
peaty deposit.

No culturél.materiai.
No cultural‘material.
No cultural material

No cultural material



L& 1L of 2
“Diary Report - ‘ February 2%, 1977

Rich organic deposits may reflect the area of the ca. 1750
" dock/lagoon complex shown in the 1750 "Brookland Ferry" plate.

Sand bar shown near pier could have created the marshy conditions
reflected by the peaty organic silt deposits at 16'-22'. Pipe
"stem ete. seem to be debris dropped from pier or shoreline directly
into this marshy water, prior to filling in. Thus probably pre-
date the ca. 1800-1816 extensions of the ferry dock area.

7 Brick wall stub hit at 4'-7' probably fepresents structure
demolished to make way for present building.

s/Thomas'H, McGovern
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Boring Report Job #1053
Red Hook Sewer Survey

BORING A7

February 22, 1977

o-2' Sand, brick, chips, concrete
Charcoal, shell.

2'=-4! Brown ségd, concrete, brick

. ¢hips, charcoal.
4'-6! Brick wall, ca. 4 courses
' sandy mortar at bottom,
charcoal, shell chips and
brown sand.

6'-8"' Bricks, probably isolated,
not more wall; gravel & sand.

8'-10! Brick and brown sand, pea
gravel. .

10'-12' Brick chips, shell, sand.

February 2%, 1977 - Warm and sunny

'12'-14' Shell and brick chips,
. upper core.

14'-16' Brick chips, brown sand. At
tip of core, grayish silt
full of. shell.

16'-18' Dark organic silt, much

- vegetation, strong smell.
Cultural cuts out at ca.l7.
18'-20' Dark orgaﬁic silt, strong
+ smell. Shell and brick in
top of core. Probable
contamination from above.
20'-22"' , Organic silt and peat.  No
. cultural; material. Co
) ‘ L i
22'-24"  Grey sand. No obvious
' cultural material.

281-26" ) - do do

26'-28"

28'-30" -

50"'-32"

32'-34" )

-185-

P

February 22/23, 1977 -

. North side of Fulton Street at Cadman Plaza West

No wash at” this depth.
No wash at this depth.

0-6' casing: brick, plaster,
slag, shell.

Brick chips.
Many brick fragments.

Shell, brick chips, peat.
i ‘

‘Wood chips, brick‘chips.

Much sheli; brick, wood
Kaolin Pipe Stem.

Brick, much shell, 1 bone
fragment (unidentified).

-‘Pééty drgénic material.

No cultural material.
-

No cultural material.

do do



page 1 of 2
Diary Report o February 24, 1977

Hit strong smelling organic layer ca., 14'-15", geems
identical to layer in A7. Wood may ve part of ca. 1750 pier structure
itself. Leather, etc. clearly indicates basic, anaerobic conditions
very favorable to organic preservation. Probably the boggy water
under the pier receiving its load at colonial debris. This debris .
is in the peaty-dark organic layer, and is sealed (as far as I
can tell) by the f£ill-above.

February 25, 1977

_ Past the organic layer and its dense céncentration of )
artifscts. Had to quit work early, as we lack clearances for our
two remaining drillings. o ;

s/Thomas\H; McGoverni
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page 2 of 2

Boring Report Job #1053 a February 24/25, 1977
Red Hook Sewer Survey ] ‘
-BORING A6
Northeast corner of Water and Fulton Streets at Cadman Plaza West
0-2"' Concrete, brick fragments No wash at this depth.
brown sand. '

SV ulp) Trace brick and cement. . ~ No wash at this depth.

Hr-g! Few Shell.fragments. No wash at this depth.

6'-8' Few shell fragments. No wasﬂ at this depth.
8'-10" Grey—brown s1lty sand. " No wash at this depth..

No obv1ous cultural materlal

10'-12' Dark 511ty sand,. ca. 3" of - Gas1ng 0= 12', brick pottery,
water logged wood at tip of (glazed), slag, shell,
_spoon.

12'-14' Much wood chlp, shells, dark IMuch wood (1arge fragments)
organic silt, strong smell shell and organic debris.

14'-16' . Pipestem in situ, metal, wood ,Lreather, wood, glazed pottery,
leather (7) shell, heavy shell. ,
‘ organic silt, splral shells.

16'-18' Wood, -shell,.pottery (glazed) Leather, wood, brick, shell,
brick chips. ' Heavy organic pottery..
" Silt.

18'-20' Shell at tlp, some vegetation Few pleces of shell.
.1 sandy 511t at the bottom.
Looks like end of organic
culture layer.

February 25, 1977 _ ‘

20'-22' Sandy siit, trace. shell - No cultural material.

22'-24"' ' Bandy silt, Some pea gravel “No cultural material.
some shell. ' ‘

24'-26' | Bandy silt, gravel. |, " No cultural material.

; R A R e ]
26'-28' | Coarse sand and silt,! . No cultural material.
28'—50'i Coarse sand and silt.' No cultural'material.
30'-32" ' COarse‘seqdfana silts, | No cultural material’;

;- < ' 1
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L . - March &, 1977
Thomas H. McGovern o ! ' .
Weekly Report
Red Hook Sewer Survey
Job #1053
Week of February 28/March 3, 1977
Days Worked: 4
Borings Al2, AQ

Boring A 12 is near the site of the former Corporation House
on the corner of Front and Fulton Streets. Its location on or
_ slightly above the original shore line seems confirmed by lack of
organic silt deposits and Spirofer Sp. snail shells (both indicating
relatively calm and brackish water, Jcomplex layer/lenses of brick,
tile and plaster extend to about 9'. Looks like multiple use of
same site, Jjust as indicated in historical records. No evidence
of ‘waterlogged cultural deposits.

Boring A © is on the site of Brooklyn's first distillery.
Very little building debris' (brick, tile, plaster, slate) recovered.
What did come up is so ground up and mixed as to suggest a decondary
deposit. Brooklyn-Queens Expressway and large buildings on Joralemon .
and Furman Streets both may have resulted in major disturbances as
the upper 10'-20'.. Dark organic silt and Spirofer Sp. shells 22'- _
28' seems to again indicate the marshy, brackish shore area in aboriginal
times. -

Récommendation: Major supervision effort should be-directed to the
Fulton Street area. Joralemon area is probably badly disturbed,

with less possibility for recovery of structural remains or artifacts
in the anaerobic silts. Suggest wet-=screens be used in organic silts
in the Fulton Street area. ' :

s/Thomas H. McGovern

Persopnel: (for entire week) .
Mr. Harold L wenfeld-Public Works Sub-surface Testing Representative -
Thomas McGovern-Archaeological Representative o -
Connors Drilling Co.: oL

F. Goughan - Driller
J. Danke - Helper .
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page 1 of 2

Diary Report ' February 28, 1977
March 1, 1977

A 12 located at vacant lot near old Corporation House. Multiple
layers of brick and plaster (dense concrete). Suggest the various
construction/destruction phases of this persistant feature of the
Brooklyn Ferry area. Note the absence of silty organic layers and
Spirofer shells, 1ndlcat1ng that Al2 is located above the aboriginal
shore line. Delay in telephone clearance of both Al2 and A9 (near
Joralemon).slows work. Excavations on site of Corporation House
would probably not encounter the excellent anaeroblc preservation of
the o0ld shoreline deposits.

A 12 (March 1, 1977). Complete Al2 down $0°30'. No indication
of cultural act1v1ty, after about 8'6". Joralemon Street not yet
cleared so stopped work for the day after finishing 4 12.

s/ Thomas H. McGovern

Y
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Boring Report Job #1053 o
Red Hook Sewer Survey

BORING A 12 : '
. At 18-20 Fulton Street (north side)

0-2" Brick chips, asphalt, trace

' shell, some plaster and mortar
at bottom.

2'-4! Brick ChlPS, asphalt plaster
~traces.

4r-g! Brick chips, plaster, mortar,
shells.

6'-8" Much sandy plaster and mortar,

-and brick,; glazed tile.

8'-10" Brick and plaster at-top,; brown
medium sand bhelow. )

10'-12' Reddish coarse sand. No obvious
cultural material

12'-14' Coarse said and pea gravel. No

obvious ‘cultural materials.

w'-16' . -do  ao
16'-18" | dfo . do
18'-20' . do do

March 1, 1977 (A12 (continued)

20'-22' ; Coarse sand. No obviousg
. cultural materials.

!

'24'426'i‘ L do L do
26'-28" Cdo - do
28'-30' . @0 - . ido

End A 12 March 1, 1977. ..« |
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February 28, 1977

March

1, 1977

No wash at this depth.

Q-4
shell.

wash much brick and

Mortar, shells, many brick
chips and chunks.

Very large amounts of brick
and plaster fragments.

Plasgster and brlck less
than ghove.

Floor?

2-3 very small brick flakes.

No cultur@l material.

. do -

No

do -

do .

do
do
do

culbtural material.

dao
do‘
do

do

do
do
do
do
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Diary Report o March 2 /5, 1977

March 2, 1977 - Warm and clear. Set up on Furman Street, much delay
with gas clearances. Nearly got into a 12" gas main. Not desirable.
Looks like much of this hole may be in very disturbed ground. Found-
ation trench of large building on corner of Furman and Joralemon,
Brooklyn-Queens Expressway and multiple utility lines hawve probably
pretty much eliminated the old distillery.

March 3, 1977 - Warm and clear. Hit organic silts and Spirofer Sp.
shells which gseems. to indicate the aboriginal shore-tidal zone. Not
much in situ 1ook1ng cultural material. Suspect upper layers largely
removed. . .

Photo Report: Roll #2 Frames 13- 15 rig in place_ ,Kodak'Pan—X B&W
- . prlnt film. ' -

Ll L

_s/Thomas’H.McGoVern
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Boring Report Job #1053 " °

Red Hook Sewer Survey

BORING A9

Futman Street near S/W corner of Joralemon and

End A9 March 3, 1977

0-2'" ;Ooncrete and asphalt. No
21-4" Concrete, brown sand. No
4'-6" Medium-fine sand, trace brick No
. chips and plaster.
6'-8' Brown sand, trace plaster, " No
' trace organic. .
8'-10" At ca. 9' nit 4"-6" of asphalt-
_ macadam, gravel, ash, slag.
10-12' ZBrown sand. No obvious No
cultural material.
12'-14' Brown sand. No obvious No
' - cultural material. '
14'-16' . Brown sand. No obvious No
: ~ cultural material.
" 16'-18' Brown sand. No obvious No
cultural material.
March 3, 1
18'-20! Brown sand, sm. pea gravel. No
No cultural material.
20'-22' | Brown sand, trace silt, wood
' vegetation.
22'-24' + Grey silty-sand, trace shell
i dincluding Spirofer Sp. River
' edge? '
24.'-26" | do do
26'-28" do do
28'-30': At 29' end of dark organic No
' gilt and shell.
50'—52‘f Brown sand. No cultural material.No
%Z2'-34' " " Brown sand. No cultural material.No
24-36" | Brown sand.

No cultural material.No

~192-

mge 2 of 2
March 2/3, 1977

Furman Streets

wash at this depth.

wash at this depth

wash at this depth.

wash at this depth.

0-10' wash, slag, plaster
brick chips.

cultural material.
cultural material.
cultural material.

cultural material.

cultural material.

Trace shell.

Shell, incl. Spirofer.

dd do
do do

cultural materiasl.

cultural material.
cultural material.

cultural material.
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Red Hook Survey ,
Archaeological Report

LAB - ANATYSTS

Lab analysis conducted in cooperation with Sub-surface Division
Geologist. Organic samples consisting of shell and wood were collected
for Cl% whenever they seemed present in useful amount, in clearly
stratified position.

The ca. 1813-1816 fill is generally coarse-red or fine-medium
brown sand, with small flecks of brick and shell mixed in. This is.
generally comparatively sterile, apart from these traces, suggesting
a brief period of intensive filling rather than a gradual pile-up
of occupational debris. ' .

Large cores of wood, obviously part of some pretty sizeable
beams (spoon was trapped by wood compression several times) were
obtained from A2, A3, A4 starting at ca. 10'-11'6"." This wood
seemed to cover organic silty deposits with much higher concentrations
of burned shell 'and artifacts; possibly occupational debris thrown
from the dock area into shallow, brackish water?? The spiral shells
of Spirofer Sp. snails (found also in organic silty layers in A6,

A7 and A8) suggest,suchia shallow, calm, brackish littoral environ-
ment. .

A5 is marked by a large, well preserved brick wall stub beginning
just below modern pavement.

The line at borings on the north side of Fulton Street (46,
A7, A8 and Al2) also suggest rapid filling with brown sand. This
is overlain by various depths of building debris and pavement, and
underlajin (46, A7, A8) by organic silts full of wood chips, pottery,
leather, shell and some pipe stem. This again may reflect the colonial-
early federal period shallow water deposits -of cultural debris. . '
Note that anaerobic, basic conditions favor preservation here.

A1l , on the site of the former "Corporation House" has evidence
of multiple building phases down to ca. 10'6". . No organic silt
deposits, suggesting that this area is above the strand line in
aboriginal times. ’ S

A 9 at the corner of Furman and Joralemon Streets presents a
complex picture of multiple building/destruction phases, and filling
with brown sand over the former shallow water deposit (organic peaty
silt, shells, Spirofer snails). The upper layers may well be disturbed
by recent utilities, the Brooklyn-Queens Expressway and large modern
buildings. However, it is possible that the debris ca.l2'-13', just
on top of the brown sand £ill (ca. 13'6"-21'6") may be part of the
old distillery structure.

Note that the brown sand used as f£ill in both-the Joralemon
Btreet area and Fulton Street area is actually the same as the sands
found at the bottom of most of the cores. Looks like relatively
clean fill, dug from the "natural" elsewhere and dumped into the
marshy shore area, sealing in the organic, peaty silts, shells and
artifacts. _ L ' f- -
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Lab Analysis {continued)

artifacts.

Pits on Water Street were briefly opened for the erection of a
wooden fence. These were about l.5m. apart, about 1lm. wide and about
lm. deep. Collections were made from the backdirt, but stratigraphy
could not be recorded before the pits were filled. Rich collections
of bone and artifacts from this site of the 0ld Ferry Terminal suggest
what will likely be encountered when large scale excavation takes
place. Pits 1-9 (see sketch map) on Water Street - bagged separately.
Pits 1-4 (see sketch map) on N. Fulton Street bagged together.

FIELD REPRESENTATIVE RECOMMENDATIONS

1. Aréhaeologicaloobservers be present on whole open-trench
phase of construction. Profilfs should be drawn prior to shoring.

) 2. In the Fulton Street area, more archaeclogical representatives,
with screens (and rubber boots) be on hand to screen the organic silt
deposits, as these contain well-sealed, well-preserved colonial

period artifacts in quantity. PVA or similar preéservative should be

on hand. Beams suitable for dendrochronology may also be encountered.

s/ Thomas H. McGovern

Suggestions for future drilling surveys:

1l. Multiple borings in line, as in the Fulton Street area,
are more effective for giving a picture of sub-surface
deposits. ' ‘ o i

[
i
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